
Mark Saccoccio  
Town Clerk  

  01525 631920 
      info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk 

 

 

 
The White House, Hockliffe Road, Leighton Buzzard, LU7 1HD. 

25 June 2021 
 
To:  Members of the Personnel Sub Committee (Councillors A Dodwell, D Bowater, 
K Cursons, R Goodchild, S Jones and D Scott) 
(Copies to all Town Councillors for information) 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING 

 
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of Personnel Sub Committee to be 
held on Monday, 5 July 2021 commencing at 7.30 pm in the Council Chamber, The 
White House, Hockliffe Road, Leighton Buzzard, LU7 1HD.  

 
M Saccoccio  
Town Clerk 
 
Please do not attend this meeting if: 

 You, anyone you live with or anyone in your support bubble has tested positive 

for Covid-19 or has symptoms of Covid-19. 

 You have been advised to self-isolate by NHS Test and Trace, the NHS pp or for 

any other reason. 

 You are within the required quarantine period having returned to the UK from a 

non-exempt country. 

 
 

AGENDA 
 
1.   APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR FOR 2021-22  

 

2.   APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR FOR 2021-2022  

 

3.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 

 Schedule 12 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a record be kept of the 
Members present and that this record form part of the minutes of the meeting. 
Members who cannot attend a meeting should tender apologies to the Town 
Clerk. 
 

4.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 

 (i) Under the Localism Act 2011 (sections 26-37 and Schedule 4) and in 
accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct, Members are required to 
declare any interests which are not currently entered in the Member’s 

THIS MEETING MAY 
BE RECORDED * 

Please do not attend this meeting if: 

 You, anyone you live with or anyone in your support bubble has tested positive for 

Covid-19 or has symptoms of Covid-19. 

 You have been advised to self-isolate by NHS Test and Trace, the NHS pp or for 

any other reason. 

 You are within the required quarantine period having returned to the UK from a non-

exempt country. 

 

Public Document Pack

mailto:info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk
http://www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk/


PERSONNEL SUB COMMITTEE Monday, 5 July 2021 
 

 

 

Register of Interests or if he/she has not notified the Monitoring Officer of it.  
 
(ii) Should any Member have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in an item on 

the agenda, the Member may not participate in consideration of that item 
unless a Dispensation has first been requested (in writing) and granted by 
the Council (see Dispensation Procedure). 

 

5.   QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC (3 MINUTES PER PERSON; MAXIMUM 15 

MINUTES)  

 

 To receive questions and statements from members of the public in respect of 
any item of business included in the agenda, as provided for in Standing Order 
No.s 3(f) and 3(g).  Members of the public wishing to speak are asked to 
contact the  Town Council in advance of the meeting. 
 

Members of the public are very welcome to attend the meeting but are asked 
to note that attendance numbers must be limited to mitigate for Covid-19 risks. 
Please contact us to advise if you wish to attend before 4pm on the day of the 
meeting. Written representations may also be submitted before 4pm on the 
day of the meeting.  

 

6.   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 4) 

 

 (a) To receive and approve as a correct record the minutes of the Committee 

meeting held on 23 March 2021 (attached) in accordance with Standing 

Order 12. 

  

(b) To receive information updates on matters arising from the previous 

meeting (if appropriate). 

 

7.   STATEMENT OF PENSION DISCRETIONS & FLEXIBLE RETIREMENT 

POLICY (Pages 5 - 68) 

 

 To receive a report regarding proposed amendments to the Council’s 
Statement of Pension Discretions and the creation of a Flexible Retirement 
Policy (attached with appendices) and to consider the recommendation/s 
contained therein. 
 

8.   POLICY REVIEW (Pages 69 - 90) 

 

 To receive a report regarding proposed amendments to the Council’s Sickness 
Absence Procedure and the creation of an Equalities in Employment Procedure 
(attached with appendices) and to consider the recommendation/s contained 
therein. 
 

9.   EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  

 

 The Sub-Committee may consider it appropriate to consider the following 



PERSONNEL SUB COMMITTEE Monday, 5 July 2021 
 

 

 

resolution should they consider that any discussion would be prejudicial to the 
public interests: that, under the Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) Act 
1960, the public be excluded on the grounds of the confidential nature of the 
business about to be transacted which involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information. The public and press to withdraw from the meeting during 
consideration of detailed discussion regarding:   staffing matters. 
 

10.   STAFFING MATTERS  

 
* Phones and other equipment may be used to film, audio record, tweet or blog from this meeting by an individual Council member, 
officer or member of the public.  No part of the meeting room is exempt from public filming unless the meeting resolves to go into 
exempt session.  The use of images or recordings arising from this is not within the Council’s control. 



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 18 

LEIGHTON–LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES OF PERSONNEL SUB COMMITTEE 
 

TUESDAY, 23 MARCH 2021 AT 10.00 AM 
 

Present:   Councillors A Dodwell (Chair) 
D Bowater 
R Goodchild 
S Jones 
D Scott 

 
Also in attendance: M Saccoccio, Town Clerk 

S Sandiford, Head of Democratic and Central 
Services 
G Morgan, Luton Borough Council 

  
 
Members of the public: 0 
Members of the press 0 

 
56/PR APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
 Apologies for absence had been received from Councillor K Cursons.  

 
 

57/PR DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this 
meeting. Cllrs Bowater and Goodchild declared that they were a part of and 
receiving a pension from the Local Government Pension Scheme.  
 

58/PR QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC (3 minutes per person; maximum 15 
minutes) 
 

 No members of public were present. 
 

59/PR MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 

 The minutes of the Personnel Sub-Committee meeting held on 4 January 
2021 were received.   
 
Minute reference 55/PR – it was noted that the two Market related posts were 
due to be advertised externally following post evaluation by Luton Borough 
Council.  
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Personnel Sub-Committee meeting 
held on 4 January 2021 be approved as a correct record and would be 
signed at a later date when safe to do so.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



Personnel Sub Committee Meeting Tuesday, 23 March 2021 
 

 

Page 19 

 
60/PR TOWN CLERK'S APPRAISAL 

 
 The Sub-Committee agreed to appoint a panel of three Councillors to 

undertake the Town Clerk’s appraisal and set objectives for the year, based 
on the Council’s Five Year Plan objectives. It was anticipated that the 
appraisal would take place in week commencing 10 May 2021 and that the 
panel would hold a pre meeting beforehand. Thereafter, agreed objectives 
would be cascaded through the organisation with all appraisals intended to 
be completed by the end of September 2021.  
 
RESOLVED to appoint Councillor S Jones and Councillor R Goodchild 
to the Town Clerk’s appraisal panel, with a third Conservative group 
member to be agreed depending on availability.  
  
 

61/PR POLICY REVIEW 
 

 The Sub-Committee received a report summarising the Council’s staffing 
related policies and procedures, with a number of items recommended for 
review/amendment over the next two years. It was noted that equality was an 
area of focus as this area was constantly evolving and also that mental 
health and wellbeing was an area which needed to be incorporated into the 
sickness absence procedure.  
 
RESOLVED to endorse the proposed actions to review a number of 
staffing related policies and procedures.  
 

62/PR PENSION DISCRETIONS AND FLEXIBLE RETIREMENT 
 

 The Sub-Committee noted that the Council’s adopted Statement of Pension 
Discretions, first adopted in 2014 and reviewed in 2017, was due for a further 
review. Advice had been sought from Bedfordshire Pension Fund and it was 
proposed that an initial workshop take place with councillors, prior to minor 
revisions being taken through the committee review process.  
 
In reviewing the existing Statement, it had been noted that a Flexible 
Retirement Policy was needed to set out the procedure to be followed by the 
Council in the event of a pension discretion being requested. The Policy 
would also provide a mechanism for the Council to retain skills and 
experience. Any request for flexible retirement for employees aged 55+ 
would be subject to a business case.  
 
RESOLVED 
 
i) That an informal workshop be held on pension discretions prior 

to any revisions being considered by committee. 
ii) That a Flexible Retirement Policy be developed.  
  
 

Page 2



Personnel Sub Committee Meeting Tuesday, 23 March 2021 
 

 

Page 20 

63/PR EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 RESOLVED that, under the Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) Act 
1960, the public be excluded on the grounds of the confidential nature 
of the business about to be transacted which involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information.  The public and press to withdraw 
from the meeting during consideration of detailed discussion regarding 
HR support and staffing matters.  
 

64/PR HUMAN RESOURCES AGREEMENT SIX-MONTHLY REPORT 
 

 The Sub-Committee received a report summarising activity undertaken 
through the Human Resources service level agreement over the past six 
months. Most staffing matters were related to the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
RESOLVED to note the report. 
 

65/PR STAFFING MATTERS 
 

 The Sub-Committee received two reports on staffing matters. 
 
The first related to staffing at the Teenage Advice and Information Centre. 
 
RESOLVED to turn the job post of Administrative Officer (TACTIC), into 
a permanent position within the TACTIC service area. 
 
The second report related to staffing in the Central Services team. It was 
agreed to use available salaries budget to create two part-time Administrative 
Officer roles from the one current full-time role. It was agreed to monitor 
workload over the next six months, as things returned to normal following the 
end of pandemic restrictions. Any workload or capacity concerns could be 
brought to the October meeting for consideration in the 2022/23 budget 
setting process. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(i) To endorse the creation of two part-time Administrative Officer 

posts in Central Services, in place of one current full-time role, 
from April 2021, using existing available salaries budget. 

(ii)  To note the anticipated departmental work plan and capacity 
“pinchpoints” for potential further discussion in October 2021. 

 
G Morgan left the meeting. 
 
 

66/PR HUMAN RESOURCES AND OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH SERVICE LEVEL 
AGREEMENT RENEWAL (report attached) 
 

 The Sub-Committee received a report in respect of the three-year Service 
Level Agreement for Human Resources and Occupational Health support, 

Page 3



Personnel Sub Committee Meeting Tuesday, 23 March 2021 
 

 

Page 21 

which was due to end on 31 March 2021.  
 
The report summarised the support provided to the Council over the three 
year period. Service was felt to be exemplary and the agreement over a 
number of years had led to a clear understanding and knowledge of the 
Council. The in-person support from a named contact was a service the 
Council would not receive under other HR support arrangements without 
significant additional cost. For these reasons, it was recommended to renew 
the agreement with the current provider for a further three years as they were 
providing a specialist service (in accordance with Financial Regulation 11.1 
(a) (ii)).  
 
It was unanimously agreed to recommend approval of the proposed renewal 
to the Policy and Finance Committee. 
 
RECOMMENDED to the Policy & Finance Committee:  
 
(i) To renew the Service Level Agreement with Luton Borough 

Council for Human Resources and Occupational Health support 
for a three year term from 1 April 2021- 31 March 2024, at a cost 
of £23,541 for the three year period, based on up to 72 days 
service provision over the contract period.  

 
(ii) That the Service Level Agreement for HR and Occupational 

Health support be funded by the existing HR budget line 
(12/4388), which will be increased by £500 per annum for 2022-23 
and 2023-24. 

 
(iii) To endorse that should the level of HR support needed exceed 

that outlined within the proposed SLA, that any additional cost be 
met from the Professional Fees budget (12/4384) where 
appropriate, or that where required, Committee approval be 
sought for budget from another source. 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
The meeting closed at 10.46 am.  
 
I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A CORRECT AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON TUESDAY, 23 MARCH 2021.  
 
 
 
 
Chair                                                5 JULY 2021   

Page 4



 
 
 
 
 

Personnel Sub-Committee      
 

Date:  5 July 2021   

 

Title:   Statement of Pension Discretions and Flexible Retirement Policy 

 

Purpose of the Report:  
To provide Committee with proposed minor amendments to the Statement of 
Pension Discretions and to consider approval of a new Flexible Retirement Policy.  

 

Contact Officer:  
Sarah Sandiford, Head of Democratic and Central Services/Deputy Town Clerk 
 

 

Corporate Objective/s n/a  
Statutory obligation as employer 
  

Implications:   

Financial No  

Human Resources No  

Operational/Service 
delivery 

No  

Procedural/Legal Yes To ensure the Council is compliant with 
its responsibilities as employer 

Risk/Health and Safety No  

Environmental Aims No  

 

1 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Should Members be minded, the proposals are: 
 

1.1 To recommend approval of the revised Town Council Statement of Pension 
Discretions (Appendix C), including the policy on determining the rate of 
employee contributions (Appendix D). 

 

1.2 To recommend approval of the Flexible Retirement Policy (Appendix E). 
 

1.3 To note that all documents will require review again in three years’ time.   
 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



 
  
2  BACKGROUND 

 

2.1 Following a change in the law, the Town Council was required to adopt a 
Statement of Pension Discretions in 2014. Following external advice with a 
specialist consultant, the current Statement was adopted in July 2014.    

 
2.2 The Statement was reviewed after three years and was re-endorsed with no 

changes in June 2017.  
 
2.3 The Statement was due for its three yearly review in June 2020 but this work was 

delayed due to the Covid-19 pandemic.  
 
2.4 In recent months, officers have sought advice from Bedfordshire Pension Fund in 

respect of the Council’s Statement of Pension Discretions and a number of minor 
amendments are recommended for approval.  

 
2.5 The following appendices are attached for information: 
 
 A – current Statement of Pension Discretions 
 B – statement mapped onto new template with comments from Beds Pension 

Fund 
 C – proposed new Statement of Pension Discretions 
 D – proposed policy on determining the rate of employee contributions 
  E – proposed new Flexible Retirement Policy 

 

3 SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDED CHANGES 

 

3.1 The advice received from Bedfordshire Pension Fund can be summarised as 
below. 

 
3.2 The Statement has been mapped across to an updated policy template and the 

points raised by Beds Pension Fund can be seen in the attached Appendix B. 
 

3.3 Section 1, Regulation R9(1) & (3): a more detailed policy is suggested to support 
this discretion. This has been drafted as is attached for consideration at 
Appendix D. 

 
3.4 Section 1, Regulation R16(16): this is a new discretion which we have discussed 

and taken advice on from Beds Pension Fund, as shown in the comments in 
Appendix B. 

 
3.5 Section 1, Regulation R21(5): sentence shown in blue on revised version reflects 

that the member does not make the decision, the council does, and therefore 
how they may appeal.  

 
3.6 Section 1, Regulation R21(5A) & R21(5B): this is a new discretion which we 

have discussed and taken advice on from Beds Pension Fund, as well as 
reviewing some sample policies from other employers. 

Page 6



 
  

 
3.7 Section 1: Regulation R22(7)(b) & R22(8)(b): slightly amended as shown in the 

comments in Appendix B. 
 

3.8 Section 1: Regulation R30(6) & TP11(2): this refers to flexible retirement. The 
existing LLTC discretion says the council will seek to take advantage of the 
flexibility. A policy is needed to support this in more detail and to set out the 
process by which any application would be considered. The resulting draft 
Flexible Retirement Policy is shown at Appendix E. For more information see 
section 4 below. 

 
A proposed change to this discretion is to remove the reference to a fixed salary 
saving of more than £5,000 per annum but simply to refer to a percentage cost 
saving (proposed wording to be removed is shown with strike through in 
Appendix C).  

 
3.9 Section 1: Regulation 74: this has been amended to show a committee rather 

than an individual having responsibility for determinations as adjudicator.  
 

3.10 The wording for several discretions has been unchanged since the adoption 
of the Statement in 2014 and it is felt that this is no longer a wholly accurate 
representation. Below is shown the existing wording and the proposed revised 
wording: 

 
Current statement applicable to many pension discretions: 
That the Council will not generally, during its normal course of business 
ordinarily consider this discretion due to financial pressures it is currently facing, 
at a time when there is a need to make significant savings via the public sector 
spending revenue. 

 
Proposed revised statement applicable to many pension discretions:  
That the Council will not generally, during its normal course of business 
ordinarily consider this discretion due to the cost implications and the need to 
ensure that funding received from taxpayers is primarily utilised for the provision 
of services to benefit the community of Leighton-Linslade. 

 
3.11 There are no changes to Sections 2 or 3 of the Statement of Pension 

Discretions.   
 

4 FLEXIBLE RETIREMENT POLICY 
 

4.1 The Flexible Retirement Policy has been developed using that adopted by Luton 
Borough Council albeit adapted to fit our existing/proposed pension discretions. 

 
4.2 The policy seeks to set out clear parameters but to allow the flexibility of 

potentially allowing the Town Council to consider the waiving of actuarial 
reductions on benefits paid on early retirement, in exceptional circumstances. 
This is in accordance with our existing pension discretion (Section 1, regulation 
R30(8).  

Page 7



 
  

 
4.3 The policy also sets out the process to be followed when considering a request 

for flexible retirement.  
 
End.  

Page 8



 

Local Government Pension Scheme 2014 (LPGS) Employer Discretion - Policy Statement 

 

 
LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 

 

 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME 2014 (LGPS) EMPLOYER 
DISCRETION - POLICY STATEMENT 

 
 
 
The new pension scheme rules, which apply from 1 April 2014, require each scheme 
employer within the LGPS to publish a statement with regards to how the employer 
will respond to discretionary aspects of the scheme rules and regulations. 
 
This statement will be published on the Leighton-Linslade Town Council website and 
will also be made freely available in other ways such as intranet sites, staff groups, 
trade unions and HR officers. 
 
The date of this publication is:  30th June 2014 
 
The effective date of this policy is:  1st April 2014 
 
Last reviewed:     26 June 2017 
 
Next review date:    June 2020 (or sooner if required)  
 
This is the formal employers 
policy in respect of the employer 
that is currently known as:   Leighton-Linslade Town Council 
 
This policy applies to: Prospective members, current 

contributory members, deferred 
members and pensioner members of the 
Local Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS), and their dependants. 

 
Where quoted regulations* refer to: The Local Government Pension Scheme 

Regulations 2013, or The Local 
Government Pension Scheme 
(Transitional Provisions, Savings and 
Amendment) Regulations 2014. 

 
*For certain employers reference may also be contained to the following regulations: 

 The Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary 
Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2000 

 The Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary 
Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006 (as amended) 

 The Local Government (Discretionary Payments) (Injury Allowances) 

Page 9



Local Government Pension Scheme 2014 (LPGS) Employer Discretion –  
Policy Statement 
       

2 

Regulations 2011 
 
This statement will be reviewed and may change from time to time. You should 
obtain the latest version of this document before making any decisions in respect of 
your retirement provisions as the situation may have changed. 
 
You are advised to read this statement in conjunction with the information provided in 
respect of the benefits provided by the LGPS – the occupational pension scheme 
provided by Leighton-Linslade Town Council 
 
This policy does not convey any form of contractual rights for LGPS/staff members. 
The policy will be reviewed and may be subject to change, only the version of the 
policy that is ‘current’ at the time at which an event occurs will be the one applied for 
the purposes of LGPS benefits or membership. 
 
In publishing this policy the scheme employer is required to pay due regard to the 
requirement that the formulated policy and its application and the extent to which the 
exercise of the discretions could lead to a serious loss of confidence in the public 
service; 
 
Leighton-Linslade Town Council will not use this policy for any ulterior motive, it will 
ensure that such discretions will be exercised reasonably and where a cost is 
incurred it will only be used when there is a future benefit to the employer for 
incurring the extra costs that may arise or be associated with the discretion. It will 
ensure that where exercised any discretions that incur additional costs, will be 
applied and recorded as appropriate. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

Page 10



Local Government Pension Scheme 2014 (LPGS) Employer Discretion –  
Policy Statement 
       

3 

Local Government Pension Scheme 
2014 (LGPS) - Employer Policy 
Statement. 
 

Employer discretions required 
under: The Local Government 
Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 
[prefix R]. 
 

The Local Government Pension 
Scheme (Transitional Provisions, 
Savings and Amendment) 
Regulations 2014 [prefix TP]. 
 

Regulation R16 (2) (e) & R16 (4) (d) 
Whether, how much, and in what 
circumstances to contribute to a 
shared cost APC scheme. 
 

The Scheme employer may resolve to 
fund in whole or in part any 
arrangement entered into by an active 
scheme member to pay additional 
pension contributions by way of 
regular contributions in accordance 
with Regulation 16(2) (e), or by way of 
a lump sum in accordance with 
Regulation 16(4) (d). 
 

The Scheme employer may enter into 
an APC contract with a Scheme 
member who is contributing to the 
MAIN section of the Scheme in order 
to purchase additional pension of not 
more than the additional pension limit 
(£6,500 from 1st April 2014 subject to 
annual increase in line with the 
Pensions (Increase) Act 1971). 
 

The amount of additional contribution 
to be paid is determined by reference 
to actuarial guidance issued by the 
Secretary of State. 
 

Consideration needs to be given to the 
circumstances under which the 
Scheme employer may wish to use 
their discretion to fund in whole or in 
part an employee’s Additional Pension 
Contributions. 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is: That the Council will not 
generally, during its normal course of 
business ordinarily consider this 
discretion due to financial pressures it 
is currently facing, at a time when 
there is a need to make significant 
savings via the public sector spending 
revenue. 

R30(6)* & TP11(2) 
Whether all or some benefits can be 
paid if an employee reduces their 
hours or grade (flexible retirement) 
 

An active member who has attained 
the age of 55 or over and who with the 
agreement of their employer reduces 
their working hours or grade of 
employment may, with the further 
consent of their employer, elect to 
receive immediate payment of all or 
part of the retirement pension to which 
they would be entitled in respect of 
that employment as if that member 
were no longer an employee in local 
government service on the date of the 
reduction in hours or grade (adjusted 
by the amount shown as appropriate in 
actuarial guidance issued by the 
Secretary of State – separate policy 
required under Regulation 30(8)). 
 

As part of the policy making decision 
the Scheme employer must consider 
whether, in addition to the benefits the 
member may have accrued prior to 1 
April 2008 (which the member must 
draw), to permit the member to choose 
to draw all, part or none of the pension 
benefits they built up after 31 March 
2008 and before 1 April 2014 and all, 
part of none of the pension benefits 
they built up after 1 April 2014. 
 

Due consideration must be given to 
the financial implications of allowing an 
employee to draw all or part of their 
pension benefits earlier than their 
normal retirement age.  
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is: We will seek to take 
advantage of the flexibility. Where a 
member either reduces their gross pay 
by more than 49.999% of contractual 
hours worked, or where the reduction 
in duties leads to a drop in contractual 
gross pay by more than £5,000 per 
annum (to be reviewed from the date 
of the effective policy by CPI annually) 
or where gross pay is reduced by 
more than 20% as a result of a 
reduction in duties performed. 
Leighton-Linslade Town Council will 
take account of any bonus payments 
in place and adjust the requirements 
accordingly in the above figures. 

Page 11



Local Government Pension Scheme 2014 (LPGS) Employer Discretion –  
Policy Statement 
       

4 

R30(8)* 
Whether to waive, in whole or in part, 
actuarial reduction on benefits paid on 
flexible retirement. Whether to waive, 
in whole or in part, actuarial reduction 
on benefits which a member 
voluntarily draws before normal 
pension age. 
 
Where a Scheme employer’s policy 
under regulation 30(6) (flexible 
retirement) is to consent to the 
immediate release of benefits in 
respect of an active member who is 
aged 55 or over, those benefits must 
be adjusted by an amount shown as 
appropriate in actuarial guidance 
issued by the Secretary of State 
(commonly referred to as actuarial 
reduction or early payment reduction). 
 
A Scheme employer (or former 
employer as the case may be) may 
agree to waive in whole or in part and 
at their own cost, any actuarial 
reduction that may be required by the 
Scheme Regulations. 
 
Due consideration must be given to 
the financial implications of agreeing to 
waive in whole or in part any actuarial 
reduction. 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is: 
 
We will seek to take advantage of the 
flexibility.  
 
Where a member receives benefits 
early and circumstances are described 
as exceptional, we will retain the right 
to examine the full circumstances 
surrounding the early payment of 
benefits, and where relevant, as 
decided by the Council, with 
supportive information provided by the 
pension fund, either specific or of a 
general nature the funds advisors and 
if relevant the staff representative or 
other body such as the LGA, a trade 
union representative or other 
interested party, waive some or all of 
any actuarial reduction that should be 
applied.  
 
If the circumstances surrounding 

payment are not deemed to be 
exceptional or where the member 
simply wishes to take benefits early 
then any actuarial reduction will be 
applied in full. 

 
TP Sch 2 para 2(2) 
Whether to “switch on” the 85-year 
rule for a member voluntarily drawing 
benefits on or after age 55 and before 
age 60. 
 
Where a scheme member retires or 
leaves employment and elects to draw 
their benefits at or after the age of 55 
and before the age of 60 those 
benefits will be actuarially reduced 
unless their Scheme employer agrees 
to meet the full or part cost of those 
reductions as a result of the member 
otherwise being protected under the 
85 year rule as set out in previous 
Regulations. 
 
So as to avoid the member suffering 
the full reduction to their benefits the 
Scheme employer can ‘switch on’ the 
85 year rule protections thereby 
allowing the member to receive fully or 
partly unreduced benefits but subject 
to the Scheme employer paying a 
strain (capital) cost to the Pension 
Fund. 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is:  
 
That the Council will not generally, 
during its normal course of business 
ordinarily consider this discretion due 
to financial pressures it is currently 
facing, at a time when there is a need 
to make significant savings via the 
public sector spending revenue. 

 
TP Sch 2 para 2(3) 
Whether to waive on compassionate 
grounds the actuarial reduction applied 
to benefits from pre 1/4/14 
membership where the employer has 
switched on the 85-year rule for a 
member voluntarily drawing benefits 
on or after age 55 and before age 60. 
 
So as to avoid the member suffering 
the full reduction to their benefits the 
Scheme employer can ‘switch on’ the 

Page 12



Local Government Pension Scheme 2014 (LPGS) Employer Discretion –  
Policy Statement 
       

5 

85 year rule protections thereby 
allowing the member to receive fully or 
partly unreduced benefits but subject 
to the Scheme employer paying a 
strain (capital) cost to the Pension 
Fund. 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is: 
 
That the Council will not generally, 
during its normal course of business 
ordinarily consider this discretion due 
to financial pressures it is currently 
facing, at a time when there is a need 
to make significant savings via the 
public sector spending revenue. 
 

R31 
Whether to grant additional pension to 
an active member or within 6 months 
of ceasing to be an active member by 
reason of redundancy or business 
efficiency 
(by up to £6,500 p.a.) 
 

A Scheme employer may resolve to 
award 
 

(a) an active member, or 
(b) a member who was an 
active member but dismissed 
by reason of redundancy, or 
business efficiency, or whose 
employment was terminated  
by mutual consent on grounds 
of business efficiency, 

 

additional annual pension of, in total 
(including any additional pension 
purchased by the Scheme employer 
under Regulation 16), not more than 
the additional pension limit (£6,500 
from 1st April 2014 subject to annual 
increase in line with the Pensions 
(Increase) Act 1971). 
 
Any additional pension awarded is 
payable from the same date as any 
pension payable under other 
provisions of the Scheme Regulations 
from the account to which the 
additional pension is attached. 
 

In the case of a member falling within 
sub-paragraph (b) above, the 
resolution to award additional pension 
must be made within 6 months of the 

date that the member’s employment 
ended. 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is: 
That the Council will not generally, 
during its normal course of business 
ordinarily consider this discretion due 
to financial pressures it is currently 
facing, at a time when there is a need 
to make significant savings via the 
public sector spending revenue. 

 
Employer discretions required 
under: The Local Government 
Pension Scheme Regulations 2007 
(as amended) [prefix B] 
 
B12 
Whether, for a member leaving on the 
grounds of redundancy or business 
efficiency on or before 31st March 
2014, to augment membership (by up 
to 10 years). The resolution to do so 
would have to be made within 6 
months of the date of leaving. Hence 
this discretion is spent entirely after 
30th September 2014. 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is:  
That the Council will not generally, 
during its normal course of business 
ordinarily consider this discretion due 
to financial pressures it is currently 
facing, at a time when there is a need 
to make significant savings via the 
public sector spending revenue. 

 
B30(2)*  
Whether to grant application for early 
payment of deferred benefits on or 
after age 55 and before age 60 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is:  
That the Council will not generally, 
during its normal course of business 
ordinarily consider this discretion due 
to financial pressures it is currently 
facing, at a time when there is a need 
to make significant savings via the 
public sector spending revenue. 

 
 
 

Page 13



Local Government Pension Scheme 2014 (LPGS) Employer Discretion –  
Policy Statement 
       

6 

B30(5)*  
Whether to waive, on compassionate 
grounds, the actuarial reduction 
applied to deferred benefits paid early 
under B30 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is:  
 
That the Council will not generally, 
during its normal course of business 
ordinarily consider this discretion due 
to financial pressures it is currently 
facing, at a time when there is a need 
to make significant savings via the 
public sector spending revenue. 

B30A(3)* 
Whether to grant an application for 
early payment of a suspended tier 3 ill 
health pension on or after age 55 and 
before age 60 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is:  
 
That the Council will not generally, 
during its normal course of business 
ordinarily consider this discretion due 
to financial pressures it is currently 
facing, at a time when there is a need 
to make significant savings via the 
public sector spending revenue. 

 
B30A(5)* 
Whether to waive, on compassionate 
grounds, the actuarial reduction 
applied to benefits paid early under 
B30A 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is: 
 
That the Council will not generally, 
during its normal course of business 
ordinarily consider this discretion due 
to financial pressures it is currently 
facing, at a time when there is a need 
to make significant savings via the 
public sector spending revenue. 

 
Employer discretions required 
under: The Local Government 
Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 
(as amended) [prefix L] 
 
 

L31(2) 
Grant application from a post 31.3.98. 
/ pre 1.4.08. leaver or from a councillor 
for early payment of benefits on or 
after age 50/55 and before age 60 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is:  
 
That the Council will not generally, 
during its normal course of business 
ordinarily consider this discretion due 
to financial pressures it is currently 
facing, at a time when there is a need 
to make significant savings via the 
public sector spending revenue. 

 
L31(5) 
Waive, on compassionate grounds, 
the actuarial reduction applied to 
benefits paid early for a post 31.3.98. / 
pre 1.4.08. leaver or a councillor 
leaver  
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is:  
 
That the Council will not generally, 
during its normal course of business 
ordinarily consider this discretion due 
to financial pressures it is currently 
facing, at a time when there is a need 
to make significant savings via the 
public sector spending revenue. 

 
L31(7A) 
Councillor optants out and pre 1.4.08. 
employee optants out only to get 
benefits paid from NRD if employer 
agrees 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is:  
 
That the Council will not generally, 
during its normal course of business 
ordinarily consider this discretion due 
to financial pressures it is currently 
facing, at a time when there is a need 
to make significant savings via the 
public sector spending revenue. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



Local Government Pension Scheme 2014 (LPGS) Employer Discretion –  
Policy Statement 
       

7 

The Local Government (Early 
Termination of Employment) 
(Discretionary Compensation) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 
2000] 
 
Regulation 21(4) 
How any surviving spouse's or civil 
partner’s annual compensatory added 
years is to be apportioned where the 
deceased person is survived by more 
than one spouse or civil partner. 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is:  
That any benefits to be paid will be 
shared equally amongst the relevant 
parties/beneficiaries. 

 
Regulation 25(2) 
How it will decide to whom any 
children’s annual compensatory added 
years payments are to be paid where 
children’s pensions are not payable 
under the LGPS (because the 
employee had not joined the LGPS) 
and in such case how the annual 
added years will be apportioned 
amongst the eligible children 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is: 
 
That any benefits to be paid will be 
shared equally amongst the relevant 
parties/beneficiaries. 

 
Regulation 21(7) 

Whether in respect of the spouse of a 
person who ceased employment 
before 1 April 1998 and where the 
spouses or civil partner remarries, 
enters into a new civil partnership or 
cohabits after 1 April 1998, the normal 
pension suspension rules should be 
disapplied i.e. whether the spouse’s or 
civil partners annual compensatory 
added years payments should 
continue to be paid. 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is: 
 
That the normal pension suspension 
rules, will be disapplied. 

 

Regulation 21(5) 
{If the decision in 21(7) is to apply 
suspension of benefits.} 
 

…whether the spouses or civil 
partners pension should be reinstated 
after the end of the remarriage, new 
civil partnership or co habitation. 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is:  
As suspension of pensions will not be 
applied under Regulation 21(7) this 
discretion will not be relevant to the 
authority and is therefore redundant. 
 

Regulation 21(7) 
Whether, in respect of the spouses or 
civil partner of a person who ceased 
employment before 1 April 1998 and 
where the spouses or civil partner 
remarries or cohabits or enters into a 
civil partnership on or after 1 April 
1998 with another person who is also 
entitled to a spouses or civil partners 
annual CAY payment, the normal rules 
requiring one of them to forgoe 
payment whilst the period of marriage, 
civil partnership or co habitation lasts, 
should be disapplied i.e. whether the 
spouses or civil partners annual CAY 
payments should continue to be paid 
to both of them. 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is: 
 
That the normal pension suspension 
rules will be disapplied. 

 
Regulation 17 
Whether to and to what extent to 
reduce or suspend the member’s 
annual compensatory added years 
payment during any period of re-
employment in local government. 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is: 
 
That the normal pension suspension 
rules, will be disapplied. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 15



Local Government Pension Scheme 2014 (LPGS) Employer Discretion –  
Policy Statement 
       

8 

Regulation 19 
How to reduce the member’s annual 
compensatory added years payment 
following the cessation of a period of 
re-employment. 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is: 
 
That the normal pension suspension 
rules, will be disapplied. 

 
The Local Government (Early 
Termination of Employment) 
(Discretionary Compensation) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 
2006 (as amended) 
 
Note: For the purposes of the above, 
'local government' means employment 
with an employer who offers 
membership of the LGPS to its 
employees, regardless of whether or 
not the employee chooses to join the 
LGPS (except where the employer is 
an Admitted Body). Technically, an 
employee of an Admitted Body (i.e. a 
body that has applied to the 
administering authority to allow its 
employees to join the LGPS and has 
entered into a formal admission 
agreement) is only employed in 'local 
government' if he / she is a member of 
the LGPS. 
 
Regulation 5 
To base redundancy payments on an 
actual weeks pay where this exceeds 
the statutory weeks pay limit.  
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is: 
 
That it will base redundancy pay on 
actual pay where the actual pay 
exceeds the statutory maximum. 

 
Regulation 6 
To award lump sum compensation of 
up to 104 weeks pay in cases of 
redundancy, termination of 
employment on efficiency grounds, or 
cessation of a joint appointment.  
 
 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is: 
 
That the Council will base the number 
of weeks compensation in cases of 
redundancy on the statutory 
redundancy scheme. In some 
exceptional circumstances the Council 
may consider cases of early retirement 
in the efficient interest of the service. 
 
In these circumstances, the provisions 
and detail set out in the local 
conditions of service, as agreed by 
Council, will prevail in this respect. 

 
The Local Government 
(Discretionary Payments) (Injury 
Allowances) Regulations 2011 
 

Formulating and publishing a policy 
under the Injury Allowances 
Regulations 2011 Each LGPS 
employer (other than an Admitted 
Body) is required to formulate, publish 
and keep under review the policy that 
it will apply in the exercise of its 
discretionary powers to make any 
award under the Injury Allowances 
Regulations. 
 

Regulation 3(1) 
Whether to grant an injury allowance 
following reduction in remuneration as 
a result of sustaining an injury or 
contracting a disease in the course of 
carrying out duties of the job.  
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is:  
 
That the authority has, after due 
regard to the facility, determined not to 
adopt the discretionary powers in 
respect of the injury allowance 
regulations as it cannot be satisfied 
that such a policy would be workable, 
affordable and reasonable having 
regard to the foreseeable cost and the 
use of public funds. 
 
Not withstanding the above the 
authority may have other insurance 
arrangements in place that may be 
more appropriate for such 
circumstances and will look towards 
these products when relevant. 
 

Page 16



Local Government Pension Scheme 2014 (LPGS) Employer Discretion –  
Policy Statement 
       

9 

Regulation 3(4) and 8 
Amount of injury allowance following 
reduction in remuneration as a result 
of sustaining an injury or contracting a 
disease in the course of carrying out 
duties of the job. 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is:  
 
That the discretion is redundant as it 
will not operate an injury allowance 
scheme. 
 

Regulation 3(2) 
Determine whether person continues 
to be entitled to an injury allowance 
awarded under regulation 3(1).  
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is:  
 
That the discretion is redundant as it 
will not operate an injury allowance 
scheme. 

 
Regulation 4(1) 
Whether to grant an injury allowance 
following cessation of employment as 
a result of permanent incapacity 
caused by sustaining an injury or 
contracting a disease in the course of 
carrying out duties of the job.  
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is:  
 
That the discretion is redundant as it 
will not operate an injury allowance 
scheme. 

 
Regulation 4(3) and 8 
Amount of injury allowance following 
cessation of employment as a result of 
permanent incapacity caused by 
sustaining an injury or contracting a 
disease in the course of carrying out 
duties of the job.  
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is:  
 
That the discretion is redundant as it 
will not operate an injury allowance 
scheme. 

 
 

Regulation 4(2) 
Determine whether person continues 
to be entitled to an injury allowance 
awarded under regulation 4(1).  
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is:  
 
That the discretion is redundant as it 
will not operate an injury allowance 
scheme. 

 
Regulation 4(5) 
Whether to suspend or discontinue 
injury allowance awarded under 
regulation 4(1) if person secures paid 
employment for not less than 30 hours 
per week for a period of not less than 
12 months. 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is:  
 
That the discretion is redundant as it 
will not operate an injury allowance 
scheme. 

 
Regulation 6(1) 
Whether to grant an injury allowance 
following cessation of employment 
with entitlement to immediate LGPS 
pension where a reg 3 payment was 
being made at date of cessation of 
employment but reg 4 does not apply.  
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is:  
 
That the discretion is redundant as it 
will not operate an injury allowance 
scheme. 

 
Regulation 6(1) 
Determine amount of any injury 
allowance to be paid under regulation 
6(1)  
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is:  
 
That the discretion is redundant as it 
will not operate an injury allowance 
scheme. 

 
 
 

Page 17



Local Government Pension Scheme 2014 (LPGS) Employer Discretion –  
Policy Statement 
       

10 

Regulation 6(2) 
Determine whether and when to cease 
payment of an injury allowance 
payable under regulation 6(1)  
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is:  
 
That the discretion is redundant as it 
will not operate an injury allowance 
scheme. 

 
Regulation 7(1) 
Whether to grant an injury allowance 
to the spouse, civil partner, nominated 
co-habiting partner or dependent of an 
employee who dies as a result of 
sustaining an injury or contracting a 
disease in the course of carrying out 
duties of the job.  
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is:  
 
That the discretion is redundant as it 
will not operate an injury allowance 
scheme. 

 
Regulation 7(2) and 8 
Determine amount of any injury 
allowance to be paid under regulation 
7(1) 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is:  
 
That the discretion is redundant as it 
will not operate an injury allowance 
scheme. 

 
Regulation 7(3) 
Determine whether and when to cease 
payment of an injury allowance 
payable under regulation 7(1) 
 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is:  
 
That the discretion is redundant as it 
will not operate an injury allowance 
scheme. 

 
 
 

Further Employer Discretions – in 
accordance with the Local 
Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations 2013 
 
Regulation R9(1) & (3) – 
Contributions 
Where an active member changes 
employment or there is a material 
change which affects the member’s 
pensionable pay during the course of a 
financial year, the Scheme employer 
may determine that a contribution rate 
from a different band (as set out in 
Regulation 9(2)) should be applied. 
 
Where the Scheme employer makes 
such a determination it shall inform the 
member of the revised contribution 
rate and the date from which it is to be 
applied. 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is:  
 
That the Town Council, having taken 
due regard to the administrative 
functions required to ensure an 
effective and legitimate payroll function 
is present that fulfills all legal 
requirements, had determined that any 
variations to the rate of contribution 
will be applied from 1st of April each 
year following any re-assessment of 
bandings.  
 
Any further assessment will only be 
carried out, during the year when the 
variance in the total annual 
remuneration is more that 25% of the 
existing total annual remuneration, and 
would be subject to the agreement of 
the Town Clerk in conjunction with the 
Leader of the Council. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



Local Government Pension Scheme 2014 (LPGS) Employer Discretion –  
Policy Statement 
       

11 

Regulation R17(1) – Additional 
Voluntary Contributions  
An active member may enter into 
arrangements to pay additional 
voluntary contributions (AVCs) or to 
contribute to a shared cost additional 
voluntary contribution arrangement 
(SCAVCs) in respect of an 
employment.  The arrangement must 
be a scheme established between the 
appropriate administering authority 
and a body approved for the purposes 
of the Finance Act 2004, registered in 
accordance with that Act and 
administered in accordance with the 
Pensions Act 2004. 
 
The Scheme employer needs to 
determine whether or not it will make 
contributions to such an arrangement 
on behalf of its active members. 
 

Leighton-Linslade Council’s policy is: 
 
That the Council will not generally, 
during its normal course of business 
ordinarily consider this discretion due 
to financial pressures it is currently 
facing, at a time when there is a need 
to make significant savings via the 
public sector spending revenue. It will 
not therefore, establish a SCAVC 
scheme at this point in time. 

 
Regulation R21(5) – Assumed 
Pensionable Pay 
A Scheme employer needs to 
determine whether or not to include in 
the calculation of assumed 
pensionable pay, any ‘regular lump 
sum payment’ received by a Scheme 
member in the 12 months preceding 
the date that gave rise to the need for 
an assumed pensionable pay figure to 
be calculated. 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is: 
 
That it will take all reasonable and 
necessary steps to ensure that in 
individual cases, it will establish a fair, 
equitable and justifiable way to identify 
what the members likely pay would 
have been, had the absence not 
occurred, and in cases where this pay 

is to be used for future benefits, 
whether that level of pay would have 
been received every year to normal 
retirement age. 

 
Regulation R22 - Merging of 
Deferred Member Pension Accounts 
with Active Member Pension 
Accounts 
A deferred member’s pension account 
is automatically aggregated with their 
active member’s pension account 
unless the member elects within the 
first 12 months of the new active 
member’s pension account being 
opened to retain their deferred 
member’s pension account. 
 
A Scheme employer can, at their 
discretion, extend the 12 month 
election period. 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is: 
 
Where a member’s previous pension 
account is not automatically 
aggregated – due to a written request 
from a member. 
 
The employer may, at their discretion, 
extend the 12-month election period 
and ask the member to re elect, to 
amalgamate.  
 
The member should provide written 
instructions to the effect, along with 
the reasons why they wish the initial 
election to be revoked.  
 
The employer may then at his point 
take account of any further information 
provided by the Administering 
Authority, including any associated 
costs.  
 
This information will be reviewed by 
the trustees/finance committee/chair of 
governors and the member notified 
accordingly of the decision reached in 
the matter. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



Local Government Pension Scheme 2014 (LPGS) Employer Discretion –  
Policy Statement 
       

12 

Regulation R74 Adjudication 
Each Scheme employer must appoint 
a person (“the adjudicator”) to consider 
applications from any person whose 
rights or liabilities under the Scheme 
are affected by: 
 
(a)  a decision under regulation 72 (first 

instance decisions); or  
 
(b)  any other act or omission by a 

Scheme employer or administering 
authority, and to make a decision 
on such applications. 

 
Responsibility for determinations 
under this first stage of the Internal 
Disputes Resolution Procedure (IDRP) 
rests with “the adjudicator” as named 
below by the Scheme employer: 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
‘Adjudicator’s’ details are: 
 
Name: 
 Councillor G Perham 
 
Title:  Adjudicator/Leader 
 
Full Address: 
 The White House 
 Hockliffe Street 
 Leighton Buzzard 
 Bedfordshire 
 
Post Code: 
 LU7 1HD 
 
Tel No: 
 01525 631920 
 
Fax No: 
 01525 853073 
 
Email Address: 
 g.perham@hotmail.co.uk 

 
Adopted by Council 29 September 
2014  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Regulation R100(6) –Transfers of 
Pension Rights into the LGPS 
A request from an active member to 
transfer previously attained pension 
rights into the LGPS must be made in 
writing to the administering authority 
and the Scheme employer before the 
expiry of the period of 12 months 
beginning with the date on which the 
employee first became an active 
member in an employment (or such 
longer period as the Scheme employer 
and administering authority may 
allow). 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
policy is: 
 
Where a request from an active 
member to transfer previously attained 
pension rights into the LGPS is made 
in writing to the administering authority 
and the Scheme employer after the 
expiry of the period of 12 months, 
beginning with the date on which the 
employee first became an active 
member in an employment, a transfer 
will only be allowed where there has 
been a delay in receiving/obtaining 
information from the transferring 
scheme, or where other exceptional 
circumstances beyond the member’s 
control can be demonstrated by the 
member. 
 
This excludes any errors or omissions 
on behalf of the payroll contractor, the 
administering authority or the 
employer. 
 
These instances will be dealt with by 
discretion in extending the 12-month 
timeframe in accordance with the 
discovery of the error or omission. 

 

Page 20



 

Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 
Employer Policy Statement 

 
The current LGPS regulations, which came into effect from 1 April 2014, require each scheme employer 
within the LGPS to formulate, publish and keep under review a statement which sets out their policy on 
certain discretions which they have the power to exercise under the LGPS regulations.  
 

This is the formal employer policy statement of: [insert employer name] 
 

  

Date of publication of this policy:   

  

Effective date of this policy:   

   
This statement will be published on the [insert employer name] website and will also be available from other 
sources such as the intranet site, staff groups, trade unions and Human Resources personnel. 
 

This policy applies to prospective members, current contributory members, deferred pensioner members 
and pensioner members of the LGPS, and their dependants. 
 

LGPS Regulations 
 

Where quoted, regulations refer to The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 or The Local 
Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014.   
 

For certain employers, reference may also be made to the following regulations: 
 

 The Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England 
and Wales) Regulations 2000 

 

 The Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England 
and Wales) Regulations 2006 (as amended) 
 

 The Local Government (Discretionary Payments) (Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 

 

This policy statement will be reviewed and may change from time to time.   It does not give any form of 
contractual rights for LGPS/staff members.    LGPS/staff members should ask the employer named above for 
the latest version of this document before making any decisions in respect of retirement provisions.   Only 
the version of this policy statement which is ‘current’ at the time an event occurs will be applicable for the 
purposes of determining LGPS benefit entitlement. 
 

This statement should be read alongside information about the benefits provided by the LGPS, available on 
the Bedfordshire Pension Fund website.  
 

In formulating and reviewing this policy, the employer named above must have regard to the extent to which 
the exercise of its discretionary powers could lead to a serious loss of confidence in the public service. 
 

[insert employer name] will ensure that the discretionary powers are exercised reasonably.  Where a cost is 
incurred, the policy will only be used when there is a future benefit to the employer for incurring the extra 
costs that may arise or be associated with the discretion.  [insert employer name] will ensure that, where 
exercised, any discretions that incur additional costs will be applied and recorded as appropriate.   

 

Page 21



 

Local Government Pension Scheme 2014 (LGPS) 
Employer Policy Statement 
Further notes are available at the end of this policy document 

 

Section 1:  
List of discretionary policies applicable from 1 April 2014 in relation to post 31 March 2014 active members (excluding councillor members) and post 31 March 2014 
leavers (excluding councillor members)  
 
Relevant regulations: 
The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 [SI 2013/2356] [prefix R]    
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014 [SI 2014/525] [prefix TP]    
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2008 [SI 2008/239] [prefix A]    
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Membership and Contributions) Regulations 2007 (as amended) [SI 2007/1166] [prefix B]    
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2008 [SI 2008/238] [prefix T]    
The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 (as amended) [SI 1997/1612] [prefix L]  

 

Discretion Regulation Employer policy 

Written policy is recommended 
Determine rate of employees’ contributions 

R9(1) & (3) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is:  
 
That the Town Council, having taken due regard to the 
administrative functions required to ensure an effective and 
legitimate payroll function is present that fulfils all legal 
requirements, had determined that any variations to the rate of 
contribution will be applied from 1st of April each year following 
any re-assessment of bandings.  
 
Any further assessment will only be carried out, during the year 
when the variance in the total annual remuneration is more that 
25% of the existing total annual remuneration, and would be 
subject to the agreement of the Town Clerk in conjunction with 
the Leader of the Council. 

P
age 22



 

Discretion Regulation Employer policy 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether, how much, and in what circumstances to contribute to a shared cost 
APC scheme (see Note 1) 

R16(2)(e) & 
R16 (4)(d) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: That the Council will 
not generally, during its normal course of business ordinarily 
consider this discretion due to financial pressures it is currently 
facing, at a time when there is a need to make significant savings 
via the public sector spending revenue. 

Written policy is recommended 
Whether to extend 30 day deadline for member to elect for a shared cost APC 
upon return from a period of absence from work with permission with no 
pensionable pay (otherwise than because of illness or injury, relevant child-
related leave or reserve forces service leave) 

R16(16) 

New discretion – after being on unpaid leave, members have the 
right to buy back pension lost during any unpaid period and if they 
choose to do this within 30 days of their return to work then the 
employer contributes towards the cost.  Consider if there are 
occasions when LLTC would extend the 30 day deadline – e.g. if 
member had not been told about their option (and the applicable 
deadline) to buy back pension, or if there had been circumstances 
where it made it difficult for the employee to have made this 
decision within the timeframe. 

Written policy is recommended 
Whether, how much, and in what circumstances to contribute to shared cost 
AVC arrangements 

R17(1) & 
definition of 
SCAVC in RSch 
1 

Leighton-Linslade Council’s policy is: 
 
That the Council will not generally, during its normal course of 
business ordinarily consider this discretion due to financial 
pressures it is currently facing, at a time when there is a need to 
make significant savings via the public sector spending revenue. It 
will not therefore, establish a SCAVC scheme at this point in time. 

Written policy is recommended 
In determining Assumed Pensionable Pay (APP), whether a lump sum payment 
made in the previous 12 months is a “regular lump sum”. 

R21(5) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
That it will take all reasonable and necessary steps to ensure that 
in individual cases, it will establish a fair, equitable and justifiable 
way to identify what the members likely pay would have been, 
had the absence not occurred, and in cases where this pay is to be 
used for future benefits, whether that level of pay would have 
been received every year to normal retirement age. 

P
age 23



 

Discretion Regulation Employer policy 

Written policy is recommended 
Where in the Employer’s opinion, the pensionable pay received in relation to an 
employment (adjusted to reflect any lump sum payments) in the 3 months (or 
12 weeks if not paid monthly) preceding the commencement of Assumed 
Pensionable Pay (APP), is materially lower than the level of pensionable pay the 
member would have normally received, decide whether to substitute a higher 
level of pensionable pay having had regard to the level of pensionable pay 
received by the member in the previous 12 months. 

R21(5A) & 
R21(5B) 

New discretion- it is at the Scheme employer’s discretion as to 
whether or not to substitute a higher level of pensionable pay. The 
intention of this discretion is to ‘smooth’ any irregularities (which 
could result in the member ending up with a lower level of 
pension than they would otherwise have received, but for the 
absence) that might occur when calculating assumed pensionable 
pay. 

Written policy is recommended 
Whether to extend the 12 month time limit for: 
 

- a member to elect that post 31 March 2014 deferred benefits should 
not be aggregated with a new employment and/or 

 

- a member to elect that post 31 March 2014 deferred benefits should 
not be aggregated with an ongoing concurrent employment 

 

(generally, whether to extend the 12 month option period for a member to 
elect not to aggregate post 31 March 2014 (or combinations of pre-April 2014 & 
post March 2014) deferred benefits). 

R22(7)(b) & 
R22(8)(b) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
Where a member’s previous pension account is not automatically 
aggregated – due to a written request from a member. 
 
The employer may, at their discretion, extend the 12-month 
election period and ask the member to re elect, to amalgamate 
keep benefits separate.  
 
The member should provide written instructions to the effect, 
along with the reasons why they wish the initial election to be 
revoked.  
 
The employer may then at his point take account of any further 
information provided by the Administering Authority, including 
any associated costs.  
 
This information will be reviewed by the trustees/finance 
committee/chair of governors and the member notified 
accordingly of the decision reached in the matter. 

Written policy is recommended 
Whether to extend the 12 month option period for a member (who has not 
elected to be treated as a member who, in the same employment, was 
contributing to the scheme on both 31 March 2014 and 1 April 2014) to elect 
that pre 1 April 2014 deferred benefits should be aggregated with a new 
employment. 

TP10(6) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
Where a member’s previous pension account is not automatically 
aggregated – due to a written request from a member. 
 
The employer may, at their discretion, extend the 12-month 
election period and ask the member to re elect, to amalgamate.  

P
age 24



 

Discretion Regulation Employer policy 

 
The member should provide written instructions to the effect, 
along with the reasons why they wish the initial election to be 
revoked.  
 
The employer may then at his point take account of any further 
information provided by the Administering Authority, including 
any associated costs.  
 
This information will be reviewed by the trustees/finance 
committee/chair of governors and the member notified 
accordingly of the decision reached in the matter. 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether all or some benefits can be paid if an employee aged over 55 reduces 
their hours or grade (flexible retirement – see Note 2) 

R30(6) & TP11 
(2) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: We will seek to take 
advantage of the flexibility. 
 
We will seek to take advantage of the flexibility. Where a member 
either reduces their gross pay by more than 49.999% of 
contractual hours worked, or where the reduction in duties leads 
to a drop in contractual gross pay by more than £5,000 per annum 
(to be reviewed from the date of the effective policy by CPI 
annually) or where gross pay is reduced by more than 20% as a 
result of a reduction in duties performed. Leighton-Linslade Town 
Council will take account of any bonus payments in place and 
adjust the requirements accordingly in the above figures. 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to waive, in whole or in part, actuarial reduction on benefits paid on 
flexible retirement (see Note 3) 

R30(8) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
We will seek to take advantage of the flexibility.  
 
Where a member receives benefits early and circumstances are 
described as exceptional, we will retain the right to examine the 
full circumstances surrounding the early payment of benefits, and 
where relevant, as decided by the Council, with supportive 
information provided by the pension fund, either specific or of a 
general nature the funds advisors and if relevant the staff 
representative or other body such as the LGA, a trade union 

P
age 25



 

Discretion Regulation Employer policy 

representative or other interested party, waive some or all of any 
actuarial reduction that should be applied. 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to “switch on” the 85-year rule for a member voluntarily drawing 
benefits on or after age 55 and before age 60 (always excludes flexible 
retirement) (see Note 4) 

TP Sch 2 para 
1(2) & 1(1)(c) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is:  
 
That the Council will not generally, during its normal course of 
business ordinarily consider this discretion due to financial 
pressures it is currently facing, at a time when there is a need to 
make significant savings via the public sector spending revenue. 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to waive any actuarial reduction, on compassionate grounds or 
otherwise, for a member voluntarily drawing benefits before normal pension 
age (excludes flexible retirement) (see note 5). 
 
For active members voluntarily retiring on or after age 55 and before Normal 
Pension Age, who elect to immediately draw benefits, and for deferred 
members and suspended tier 3 ill health pensioners who elect to draw benefits 
(other than on ill health grounds) on or after age 55 and before Normal Pension 
Age, and who: 
 
a) were not members of the LGPS before 1 October 2006 (known as Group 4 

members), whether to: 
 

 - waive, on compassionate grounds, any actuarial reduction that would 
otherwise be applied to benefits, if any, built up before 1 April 2014 
and/or 

  

- waive, in whole or in part (on any grounds), any actuarial reduction that 
would otherwise be applied to benefits built up after 31 March 2014  

 
b) were members of the LGPS before 1 October 2006 and who reached age 

60 before 1 April 2016 (Group 1) whether to:  
 

- waive, on compassionate grounds, any actuarial reduction that would 
otherwise be applied to benefits built up before 1 April 2016 and/or 

  

TP3(1), TPSch 
2, para 2(1), 
R30(8) B30(5) 
& B30A(5) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
That the Council will not generally, during its normal course of 
business ordinarily consider this discretion due to financial 
pressures it is currently facing, at a time when there is a need to 
make significant savings via the public sector spending revenue. 

P
age 26



 

Discretion Regulation Employer policy 

- waive, in whole or in part (on any grounds), any actuarial reduction that 
would otherwise be applied to benefits built up after 31 March 2016  

 
c) were members of the LGPS before 1 October 2006 and who will reach age 

60 after 31 March 2020 (or who would reach age 60 between 1 April 2016 
and 31 March 2020 inclusive, but who would not meet their Retirement 
Age (CRA) before 1 April 2020 - in this instance CRA is the earlier of the 
date upon which the member would meet the 85 year rule or age 65 
(Group 3)) whether to:  
 

- waive on compassionate grounds, any actuarial reduction that would 
otherwise be applied to benefits built up before 1 April 2014 and / or  
 

- waive, in whole or in part (on any grounds), any actuarial reduction that 
would otherwise be applied to benefits built up after 31 March 2014  

 
d) were members of the LGPS before 1 October 2006 and who will reach age 

60 between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2020 inclusive and who will also 
reach their Critical Retirement Age (CRA) (in this instance CRA is the earlier 
of the date upon which the member would meet the 85 year rule or age 
65) before 1 April 2020 (Group 2), whether to:  

 

- waive, on compassionate grounds, any actuarial reduction that would 
otherwise be applied to benefits built up before 1 April 2020 and/or 
  

- waive, in whole or in part (on any grounds), any actuarial reduction that 
would otherwise be applied to benefits built up after 31 March 2020. 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether, at full cost to the scheme employer, to grant extra annual pension of 
up to £7,194 (figure at April 2020*) to an active member or within 6 months of 
ceasing to be an active member by reason of redundancy or business efficiency 
(*figure is inflation proofed annually )(see Note 6) 

R31 

That the Council will not generally, during its normal course of 
business ordinarily consider this discretion due to financial 
pressures it is currently facing, at a time when there is a need to 
make significant savings via the public sector spending revenue. 

Written policy is recommended 
Extend normal time limit for acceptance of a transfer value beyond 12 months 
from joining the LGPS. 

R100(6) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
Where a request from an active member to transfer previously 
attained pension rights into the LGPS is made in writing to the 

P
age 27



 

Discretion Regulation Employer policy 

administering authority and the Scheme employer after the expiry 
of the period of 12 months, beginning with the date on which the 
employee first became an active member in an employment, a 
transfer will only be allowed where there has been a delay in 
receiving/obtaining information from the transferring scheme, or 
where other exceptional circumstances beyond the member’s 
control can be demonstrated by the member. 
 
This excludes any errors or omissions on behalf of the payroll 
contractor, the administering authority or the employer. 
 
These instances will be dealt with by discretion in extending the 
12-month timeframe in accordance with the discovery of the error 
or omission. 

Written policy is recommended 
Each Scheme employer must appoint a person (“the adjudicator”) to consider 
applications from any person whose rights or liabilities under the Scheme are 
affected by: 
 
a) Decision under regulation 72 (first instance decisions); or  
b) Any other act or omission by a scheme employer or administering authority 
 
and to make a decision on such applications. 

R74  

Responsibility for determinations under this first stage of the 
Internal Disputes Resolution Procedure (IDRP) rests with “the 
adjudicator” as named below by the Scheme employer: 
[insert employer name]’s adjudicator’s details are: 
 
Name: Councillor G Perham 
Job Title: Adjudicator/Leader 
Address: The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, 
Bedfordshire 
Post Code: LU7 1HD 
Telephone number: 01525 631920 
Email address: g.perham@hotmail.co.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 28



 
 

Section 2:   
Discretionary policies in relation to scheme members (excluding councillor members) who ceased active membership on or after 1 April 2008 and before 1 April 2014 

Relevant regulations:  
·      LGPS (Administration) Regulations 2008 [SI 2008/239] [A]  
·      LGPS (Benefits, Membership and Contributions) Regulations 2007 (as amended) [SI 2007/1166] [B]  
·      LGPS (Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2008 [SI 2008/238] [T]  
·      LGPS (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014 [SI 2014/525] [TP]  
·      LGPS Regulations 2013 [SI 2013/2356] [R]  
·      LGPS 1997 (as amended) [1997/1612] [L]  

 

Discretion Regulation Employer policy 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to “switch on” the 85 year rule for a member voluntarily 
drawing benefits on or after age 55 and before age 60 (see Note 4). 

TPSch 2, para 
1(2) & 1(1)(c) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is:  
 
That the Council will not generally, during its normal course of business 
ordinarily consider this discretion due to financial pressures it is currently 
facing, at a time when there is a need to make significant savings via the 
public sector spending revenue. 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to “switch on” the 85 year rule upon the voluntary early 
payment of a suspended tier 3 ill health pension (see Note 4). 

TPSch 2, para 
1(2) & 1(1)(c) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is:  
 
That the Council will not generally, during its normal course of business 
ordinarily consider this discretion due to financial pressures it is currently 
facing, at a time when there is a need to make significant savings via the 
public sector spending revenue. 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to waive, on compassionate grounds, the actuarial reduction 
applied to deferred benefits paid early (before age 65) (see Note 5). 

B30(5), TPSch 
2, para 2(1) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
That the Council will not generally, during its normal course of business 
ordinarily consider this discretion due to financial pressures it is currently 
facing, at a time when there is a need to make significant savings via the 
public sector spending revenue. 

P
age 29



 

Discretion Regulation Employer policy 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to waive, on compassionate grounds, the actuarial reduction 
applied to suspended tier 3 ill health pension benefits paid early (before 
age 65) (see Note 5). 

B30A(5), 
TPSch 2, 
para 2(1) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
That the Council will not generally, during its normal course of business 
ordinarily consider this discretion due to financial pressures it is currently 
facing, at a time when there is a need to make significant savings via the 
public sector spending revenue. 

 

Section 3  
Discretionary policies in relation to: 
• active welsh councillor members, and 
• councillor members who ceased active membership on or after 1 April 1998, and 
• any other scheme members who ceased active membership on or after 1 April 1998 and before 1 April 2008  

Relevant regulations:  
LGPS Regulations 1997 [SI 1997/1612]  
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2008 [SI 2008/238] [prefix T]  
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2008 [SI 2008/239] [prefix A]  
LGPS (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014 [SI 2014/525] [TP]  
The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 [SI 2013/2356] [prefix R]  

 

Discretion Regulation Employer Policy 

Written policy is compulsory 
Grant application for early payment of deferred benefits on or after age 
50 and before age 55. 

31(2) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is:  
That the Council will not generally, during its normal course of business 
ordinarily consider this discretion due to financial pressures it is currently 
facing, at a time when there is a need to make significant savings via the 
public sector spending revenue. 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to “switch on” the 85 year rule for a member with deferred 
benefits voluntarily drawing benefits on or after age 55 and before age 
60 (see Note 4). 

TPSch 2, para 
1(2) & 1(1)(f) 
& R60 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is:  
 
That the Council will not generally, during its normal course of business 
ordinarily consider this discretion due to financial pressures it is currently 
facing, at a time when there is a need to make significant savings via the 
public sector spending revenue. 

P
age 30



 

Discretion Regulation Employer Policy 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to waive, on compassionate grounds, the actuarial reduction 
applied to deferred benefits paid early (before age 65) (see Note 5). 

31(5) & TPSch 
2, para 2(1) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
That the Council will not generally, during its normal course of business 
ordinarily consider this discretion due to financial pressures it is currently 
facing, at a time when there is a need to make significant savings via the 
public sector spending revenue. 

 

Section 4:   
Discretionary policies in relation to scheme members who ceased active membership before 1 April 1998 

Relevant regulations: 
LGPS Regulation 1995 [SI 1995/1019] 
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions) Regulations 1997 [SI 1997/1613] [prefix TL] 
The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 {SI 1997/1612] (as amended) [prefix L] 
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2008 [SI 2008/239] [prefix A] 
LGPS (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014 [SI 2014/525] [TP] 
The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 [SI 2013/2356] [prefix R] 

 

Discretion Regulation Employer Policy 

Grant application for early payment of deferred benefits on or after age 50 
and before Normal Retirement Date on compassionate grounds.  

TP3(5A)(vi), TL4, L106(1) & 
D11(2)(c) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
That the Council will not generally, during its normal course 
of business ordinarily consider this discretion due to 
financial pressures it is currently facing, at a time when 
there is a need to make significant savings via the public 
sector spending revenue. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 31



 
 

Section 5:  
Discretionary policies in relation to employees of an employing authority that is defined under regulation 2 of The Local Government (Early Termination of 
Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006 (as amended) 

Relevant regulations: 
The Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006 (as amended) [SI 2006/2914] 

 

Discretion Regulation Employer Policy 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to base redundancy payments on an actual week’s pay where 
this exceeds the statutory week’s pay limit. 

5 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
That it will base redundancy pay on actual pay where the actual pay 
exceeds the statutory maximum. 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to award lump sum compensation of up to 104 weeks’ pay in 
cases of redundancy, termination of employment on efficiency grounds, 
or cessation of a joint appointment. 

6 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
That the Council will base the number of weeks compensation in cases 
of redundancy on the statutory redundancy scheme. In some 
exceptional circumstances the Council may consider cases of early 
retirement in the efficient interest of the service. 
 
In these circumstances, the provisions and detail set out in the local 
conditions of service, as agreed by Council, will prevail in this respect. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 32



 

Section 6:  
Discretionary policies in relation to former employees of an employing authority that is a body that is a scheduled body, a designate body, or a body that is deemed to 
be a scheduled body under the LGPS Regulations 2013 and equivalent predecessor regulations (excluding admitted bodies). 

Relevant regulations: 
The Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2000 (as amended) [SI 2000/1410] 

 

Discretion Regulation Employer Policy 

Written policy is compulsory 
How to apportion any surviving spouses or civil partner’s annual 
compensatory added years’ payment where the deceased person is 
survived by more than one spouse or civil partner. 

21(4) 
Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is:  
That any benefits to be paid will be shared equally amongst the 
relevant parties/beneficiaries. 

Written policy is compulsory 
How it will decide to whom any children's annual compensatory added 
years payments are to be paid where children's pensions are not 
payable under the LGPS (because the employee had not joined the 
LGPS) and, in such a case, how the annual added years will be 
apportioned amongst the eligible children. 

25(2) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
That any benefits to be paid will be shared equally amongst the 
relevant parties/beneficiaries. 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether in respect of the spouse of a person who ceased employment 
before 1 April 1998 and where the spouses or civil partner remarries, 
enters into a new civil partnership or cohabits after 1 April 1998, the 
normal pension suspension rules should be disapplied i.e. whether the 
spouse’s or civil partners annual compensatory added years payments 
should continue to be paid. 

21(7) 

 
 
Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
That the normal pension suspension rules, will be disapplied. 
 
 
 
 
 

Written policy is compulsory 
If, under the preceding decision, the authority's policy is to apply the 
normal suspension rules, whether the spouse's or civil partner’s annual 
compensatory added years payment should be reinstated after the end 
of the remarriage, new civil partnership or cohabitation. 

21(5)  

 
Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is:  
As suspension of pensions will not be applied under Regulation 21(7) 
this discretion will not be relevant to the authority and is therefore 
redundant. 
 

P
age 33



 

Discretion Regulation Employer Policy 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether, in respect of the spouses or civil partner of a person who 
ceased employment before 1 April 1998 and where the spouses or civil 
partner remarries or cohabits or enters into a civil partnership on or 
after 1 April 1998 with another person who is also entitled to a spouses 
or civil partners annual CAY payment, the normal rules requiring one of 
them to forgo payment whilst the period of marriage, civil partnership 
or co habitation lasts, should be disapplied i.e. whether the spouses or 
civil partners annual CAY payments should continue to be paid to both 
of them. 

21(7) 
Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
That the normal pension suspension rules will be disapplied. 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to and to what extent to reduce or suspend the member’s 
annual compensatory added years payment during any period of re-
employment in local government and thereafter? 

17 & 19 
Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
That the normal pension suspension rules, will be disapplied. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 34



 

Section 7:  
Discretionary policies each employing authority may apply in the exercise of its discretionary powers to make any award in respect of leavers, deaths and reductions in 
pay that occurred post 15 January 2012   
 

Relevant regulations:      
The Local Government (Discretionary Payments) (Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 [SI 2011/2954] 
 

 

Discretion Regulation Employer Policy 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to pay an injury award and in what circumstances: 
 

Whether to make an injury award to those who sustain an injury or 
contract a disease as a result of anything they were required to do in 
performing the duties of their job and in consequence of which they:  
 

- suffer a reduction remuneration, or  
 

- cease to be employed as a result of an incapacity which is likely to be 
permanent and which was caused by the injury or disease, or 
 

 - die leaving a surviving spouse, civil partner, eligible cohabiting 
partner or dependant. 

3 - 7 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is:  
 
That the authority has, after due regard to the facility, determined not 
to adopt the discretionary powers in respect of the injury allowance 
regulations as it cannot be satisfied that such a policy would be 
workable, affordable and reasonable having regard to the foreseeable 
cost and the use of public funds. 
 
Not withstanding the above the authority may have other insurance 
arrangements in place that may be more appropriate for such 
circumstances and will look towards these products when relevant. 

Written policy is compulsory 
How to determine the amount of an injury award and for how long will 
it be paid. 

3 - 7 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is:  
 
That the discretion is redundant as it will not operate an injury 
allowance scheme. 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 35



 

Additional notes on discretions  

Further information, including a full list of discretions and a technical guide to employer policies, is available at http://www.lgpsregs.org/resources/guidesetc.php 

Discretion Regulation Note 1 

 
Whether, how much, and in what 
circumstances to contribute to a 
shared cost APC scheme. 

R16(2)(e) & 
R16 (4)(d) 

The Scheme employer may choose to fund, in whole or in part, any arrangement entered into by an active 
scheme member to pay additional pension contributions by way of regular contributions in accordance with 
Regulation 16(2)(e), or by way of a lump sum in accordance with Regulation 16(4)(d). 
 

The Scheme employer may enter into an APC contract with a Scheme member who is contributing to the 
MAIN section of the Scheme in order to purchase additional pension of not more than the additional pension 
limit (£7,194 from April 2020, figure is inflation-proofed annually).  
 

Any extra pension granted by the Scheme employer under a SCAPC arrangement would be subject to an 
actuarial reduction for early payment where, other than in a case of ill health retirement, that extra pension 
is drawn before the member’s Normal Pension Age.   

The amount of additional contribution to be paid is determined by reference to actuarial guidance issued by 
the Secretary of State. 
 

Consideration needs to be given to the circumstances under which the Scheme employer may wish to use 
their discretion to fund in whole or in part an employee’s Additional Pension Contributions. 

 

Discretion Regulation Note 2 

Whether all or some benefits can be 
paid if an employee reduces their 
hours or grade (flexible retirement) 

Regulation 
R30(6) & 
TP11 (2) 

An active member who is aged 55 or over and who, with the agreement of their employer, reduces their 
working hours or grade of employment may, with the further consent of their employer, elect to receive 
immediate payment of all or part of the retirement pension to which they would be entitled in respect of 
that employment as if that member were no longer an employee in local government service on the date of 
the reduction in hours or grade (adjusted by the amount shown as appropriate in actuarial guidance issued 
by the Secretary of State – separate policy required under Regulation 30(8)). 
 

As part of the policy making decision the Scheme employer must consider whether, in addition to the 
benefits the member may have accrued prior to 1 April 2008 (which the member must draw), to permit the 
member to choose to draw all, part or none of the pension benefits they built up after 31 March 2008 and 
before 1 April 2014 and all, part of none of the pension benefits they built up after 1 April 2014. 

 

P
age 36



 

Discretion Regulation Note 3 

Whether to waive, in whole or in 
part, actuarial reduction on benefits 
paid on flexible retirement. 

R30(8) 

Where a Scheme employer’s policy under regulation 30(6) (flexible retirement) is to consent to the 
immediate release of benefits in respect of an active member who is aged 55 or over, those benefits must 
be adjusted by an amount shown as appropriate in actuarial guidance issued by the Secretary of State 
(commonly referred to as actuarial reduction or early payment reduction). 
 

A Scheme employer (or former employer as the case may be) may agree to waive in whole or in part and at 
their own cost, any actuarial reduction that may be required by the Scheme Regulations. 

Due consideration must be given to the financial implications of agreeing to waive in whole or in part any 
actuarial reduction.  Where flexible retirement is agreed for an employee aged 5 or over but under Normal 
Pension Age, the cost of waiving an actuarial reduction, in whole or in part, would have to be met by, and 
paid to the Pension Fund by, the scheme employer.   

 

Discretion Regulation Note 4 

Whether to “switch on” the 85-year 
rule for a member voluntarily 
drawing benefits on or after age 55 
and before age 60 (excludes flexible 
retirement) 

TP Sch 2 para 
1(2) & 1(1)(c) 
& 1(1)(f) and 
R60 

Where a scheme member leaves employment and elects to draw their benefits at or after the age of 55 and 
before the age of 60 those benefits will be actuarially reduced unless their Scheme employer agrees to meet 
the full or part cost of those reductions as a result of the member otherwise being protected under the 85 
year rule as set out in previous Regulations. 
 

So as to avoid the member suffering the full reduction to their benefits the Scheme employer can ‘switch 
on’ the 85 year rule protections thereby allowing the member to receive fully or partly unreduced benefits 
but subject to the Scheme employer paying a strain cost to the Pension Fund. 

The employer can also exercise a discretion (see below) to waive any actuarial reductions (including where 
an actuarial reduction may still be applied to a member’s benefits after ‘switching back on’ the 85 year rule 
in full), at a cost to the employer. 

 

Discretion Regulation Note  5 

Whether to waive any actuarial 
reduction, on compassionate 
grounds or otherwise, for a member 
voluntarily drawing benefits before 
normal pension age (excludes 
flexible retirement)  

TP3(1), 
TPSch 2, para 
2(1), R30(8), 
B30(5) & 
B30A(5) 

A Scheme employer may agree to waive in whole or in part and at their own cost, any actuarial reduction 
that may be required by the Scheme Regulations. 
 

Due consideration must be given to the financial implications of agreeing to waive in whole or in part any 
actuarial reduction. 
 

There is no definition in the regulations of ‘compassionate grounds’. 

P
age 37



 
 

Discretion Regulation Note 6 

Whether to grant additional annual 
pension to an active member or 
within 6 months of ceasing to be an 
active member by reason of 
redundancy or business efficiency 
(by up to £7,194). 

R31 

A Scheme employer may resolve to award 
 

(a) an active member, or 
(b) a member who was an active member but dismissed by reason of redundancy, or business 

efficiency, or whose employment was terminated by mutual consent on grounds of business 
efficiency, 

 

additional annual pension of, in total (including any additional pension purchased by the Scheme employer 
under Regulation 16), not more than the additional pension limit (£7,194 from 1 April 2020). 
 

Any additional pension awarded is payable from the same date as any pension payable under other 
provisions of the Scheme Regulations from the account to which the additional pension is attached. 
 

Any extra pension granted by the scheme employer would be subject to an actuarial reduction for early 
payment where, other than in a case of ill health retirement or retirement on redundancy or business 
efficiency grounds, that extra pension is drawn before the member’s Normal Pension Age. 
 

In the case of a member falling within sub-paragraph (b) above, the resolution to award additional pension 
must be made within 6 months of the date that the member’s employment ended. 
 

Scheme employers should take care to avoid the policy being discriminatory on age or gender grounds. 
 

Awards of additional pension may have implications for a member’s Annual and Lifetime allowances and 
could result in a tax charge.  

P
age 38



 

 

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 40



 

Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 
Employer Policy Statement 

 
The current LGPS regulations, which came into effect from 1 April 2014, require each scheme employer 
within the LGPS to formulate, publish and keep under review a statement which sets out their policy on 
certain discretions which they have the power to exercise under the LGPS regulations.  
 

This is the formal employer policy statement of: LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL 
 

  

Date of publication of this policy:   

  

Effective date of this policy:   

   
This statement will be published on the Leighton-Linslade Town Council website and will also be available 
to all staff on the share drive. 
 

This policy applies to prospective members, current contributory members, deferred pensioner members 
and pensioner members of the LGPS, and their dependants. 
 

LGPS Regulations 
 

Where quoted, regulations refer to The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 or The Local 
Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014.   
 

For certain employers, reference may also be made to the following regulations: 
 

 The Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England 
and Wales) Regulations 2000 

 

 The Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England 
and Wales) Regulations 2006 (as amended) 
 

 The Local Government (Discretionary Payments) (Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 

 

This policy statement will be reviewed and may change from time to time.   It does not give any form of 
contractual rights for LGPS/staff members.    LGPS/staff members should ask the employer named above for 
the latest version of this document before making any decisions in respect of retirement provisions.   Only 
the version of this policy statement which is ‘current’ at the time an event occurs will be applicable for the 
purposes of determining LGPS benefit entitlement. 
 

This statement should be read alongside information about the benefits provided by the LGPS, available on 
the Bedfordshire Pension Fund website.  
 

In formulating and reviewing this policy, the employer named above must have regard to the extent to which 
the exercise of its discretionary powers could lead to a serious loss of confidence in the public service. 
 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council will ensure that the discretionary powers are exercised reasonably.  Where 
a cost is incurred, the policy will only be used when there is a future benefit to the employer for incurring 
the extra costs that may arise or be associated with the discretion.  Leighton-Linslade Town Council] will 
ensure that, where exercised, any discretions that incur additional costs will be applied and recorded as 
appropriate.   

Page 41



 

 

Page 42



 

Local Government Pension Scheme 2014 (LGPS) 
Employer Policy Statement 
Further notes are available at the end of this policy document 

 

Section 1:  
List of discretionary policies applicable from 1 April 2014 in relation to post 31 March 2014 active members (excluding councillor members) and post 31 March 2014 
leavers (excluding councillor members)  
 
Relevant regulations: 
The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 [SI 2013/2356] [prefix R]    
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014 [SI 2014/525] [prefix TP]    
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2008 [SI 2008/239] [prefix A]    
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Membership and Contributions) Regulations 2007 (as amended) [SI 2007/1166] [prefix B]    
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2008 [SI 2008/238] [prefix T]    
The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 (as amended) [SI 1997/1612] [prefix L]  

 

Discretion Regulation Employer policy 

Written policy is recommended 
Determine rate of employees’ contributions 

R9(1) & (3) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is:  
 
That the Town Council, having taken due regard to the 
administrative functions required to ensure an effective and 
legitimate payroll function is present that fulfils all legal 
requirements, had determined that any variations to the rate of 
contribution will be applied from 1st of April each year following 
any re-assessment of bandings.  
 
Any further assessment will only be carried out, during the year 
when the variance in the total annual remuneration is more that 

P
age 43



 

Discretion Regulation Employer policy 

25% of the existing total annual remuneration, and would be 
subject to the agreement of the Town Clerk in conjunction with 
the Leader of the Council. 
 
See Town Council’s policy statement on contributions.  

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether, how much, and in what circumstances to contribute to a shared cost 
APC scheme (see Note 1) 

R16(2)(e) & 
R16 (4)(d) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: That the Council will 
not generally, during its normal course of business ordinarily 
consider this discretion due to the cost implications and the need 
to ensure that funding received from taxpayers is primarily utilised 
for the provision of services to benefit the community of Leighton-
Linslade. 

Written policy is recommended 
Whether to extend 30 day deadline for member to elect for a shared cost APC 
upon return from a period of absence from work with permission with no 
pensionable pay (otherwise than because of illness or injury, relevant child-
related leave or reserve forces service leave) 

R16(16) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
That the Council will allow employees 30 days to decide whether 
to buy back pension lost during any unpaid leave period, from the 
date that the employee is notified by LLTC of their option to do so 
(rather than 30 days from their return to work). 

Written policy is recommended 
Whether, how much, and in what circumstances to contribute to shared cost 
AVC arrangements 

R17(1) & 
definition of 
SCAVC in RSch 
1 

Leighton-Linslade Council’s policy is: 
 
That the Council will not generally, during its normal course of 
business ordinarily consider this discretion due to the cost 
implications and the need to ensure that funding received from 
taxpayers is primarily utilised for the provision of services to 
benefit the community of Leighton-Linslade.. It will not therefore, 
establish a SCAVC scheme at this point in time. 

P
age 44



 

Discretion Regulation Employer policy 

Written policy is recommended 
In determining Assumed Pensionable Pay (APP), whether a lump sum payment 
made in the previous 12 months is a “regular lump sum”. 

R21(5) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
That it will take all reasonable and necessary steps to ensure that 
in individual cases, it will establish a fair, equitable and justifiable 
way to identify what the members likely pay would have been, 
had the absence not occurred, and in cases where this pay is to be 
used for future benefits, whether that level of pay would have 
been received every year to normal retirement age. 
 
If the member wishes to appeal against the decision they should 
provide written instructions to this effect along with the reasons 
why they wish the original decision to be revoked.  
 
The employer may then at his point take account of any further 
information provided by the Administering Authority, including 
any associated costs.  
 
This information will be reviewed by the Personnel Sub 
Committee and the member notified accordingly of the decision 
reached in the matter. 

Written policy is recommended 
Where in the Employer’s opinion, the pensionable pay received in relation to an 
employment (adjusted to reflect any lump sum payments) in the 3 months (or 
12 weeks if not paid monthly) preceding the commencement of Assumed 
Pensionable Pay (APP), is materially lower than the level of pensionable pay the 
member would have normally received, decide whether to substitute a higher 
level of pensionable pay having had regard to the level of pensionable pay 
received by the member in the previous 12 months. 

R21(5A) & 
R21(5B) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
Where there is an irregularity in the calculation of APP which 
results in the member suffering unfair detriment to their pension 
benefit, the Town Council’s Personnel Sub-Committee will 
determine whether it is fair to substitute a higher salary for the 
purposes of calculating APP.  Due consideration will be given to 
the level of pensionable pay received in the previous 12 months 
with the intention of “smoothing out” the irregularity.  

P
age 45



 

Discretion Regulation Employer policy 

Written policy is recommended 
Whether to extend the 12 month time limit for: 
 

- a member to elect that post 31 March 2014 deferred benefits should 
not be aggregated with a new employment and/or 

 

- a member to elect that post 31 March 2014 deferred benefits should 
not be aggregated with an ongoing concurrent employment 

 

(generally, whether to extend the 12 month option period for a member to 
elect not to aggregate post 31 March 2014 (or combinations of pre-April 2014 & 
post March 2014) deferred benefits). 

R22(7)(b) & 
R22(8)(b) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
Where a member’s previous pension account is automatically 
aggregated – due to a written request from a member – the 
Council may, at its discretion, extend the 12-month election 
period and ask the member to re elect to keep benefits separate.  
 
The member should provide written instructions to the effect, 
along with the reasons why they wish the initial election to be 
revoked.  
 
The employer may then at his point take account of any further 
information provided by the Administering Authority, including 
any associated costs.  
 
This information will be reviewed by the Personnel Sub 
Committee and the member notified accordingly of the decision 
reached in the matter.  

Written policy is recommended 
Whether to extend the 12 month option period for a member (who has not 
elected to be treated as a member who, in the same employment, was 
contributing to the scheme on both 31 March 2014 and 1 April 2014) to elect 
that pre 1 April 2014 deferred benefits should be aggregated with a new 
employment. 

TP10(6) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
Where a member’s previous pension account is not automatically 
aggregated – due to a written request from a member - the 
Council may, at its discretion, extend the 12-month election 
period and ask the member to re elect to amalgamate.  
 
The member should provide written instructions to the effect, 
along with the reasons why they wish the initial election to be 
revoked.  
 

P
age 46



 

Discretion Regulation Employer policy 

The employer may then at his point take account of any further 
information provided by the Administering Authority, including 
any associated costs.  
 
This information will be reviewed by the Personnel Sub-
Committee and the member notified accordingly of the decision 
reached in the matter. 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether all or some benefits can be paid if an employee aged over 55 reduces 
their hours or grade (flexible retirement – see Note 2) 

R30(6) & TP11 
(2) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: We will seek to take 
advantage of the flexibility. 
 
We will seek to take advantage of the flexibility. Where a member 
either reduces their gross pay by more than 49.999% of 
contractual hours worked, or where the reduction in duties leads 
to a drop in contractual gross pay by more than £5,000 per annum 
(to be reviewed from the date of the effective policy by CPI 
annually) or where gross pay is reduced by more than 20% as a 
result of a reduction in duties performed. Leighton-Linslade Town 
Council will take account of any bonus payments in place and 
adjust the requirements accordingly in the above figures. 
 
See the Council’s Flexible Retirement Policy.  

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to waive, in whole or in part, actuarial reduction on benefits paid on 
flexible retirement (see Note 3) 

R30(8) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
We will seek to take advantage of the flexibility.  
 
Where a member receives benefits early and circumstances are 
described as exceptional, we will retain the right to examine the 
full circumstances surrounding the early payment of benefits, and 
where relevant, as decided by the Council, with supportive 
information provided by the pension fund, either specific or of a 
general nature the funds advisors and if relevant the staff 

P
age 47



 

Discretion Regulation Employer policy 

representative or other body such as the LGA, a trade union 
representative or other interested party, waive some or all of any 
actuarial reduction that should be applied. 
 
See the Council’s Flexible Retirement Policy.  

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to “switch on” the 85-year rule for a member voluntarily drawing 
benefits on or after age 55 and before age 60 (always excludes flexible 
retirement) (see Note 4) 

TP Sch 2 para 
1(2) & 1(1)(c) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is:  
 
That the Council will not generally, during its normal course of 
business ordinarily consider this discretion due to the cost 
implications and the need to ensure that funding received from 
taxpayers is primarily utilised for the provision of services to 
benefit the community of Leighton-Linslade. 
 
In exceptional circumstances a request may be considered by the 
Personnel Sub-Committee on a case-by-case basis.  

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to waive any actuarial reduction, on compassionate grounds or 
otherwise, for a member voluntarily drawing benefits before normal pension 
age (excludes flexible retirement) (see note 5). 
 
For active members voluntarily retiring on or after age 55 and before Normal 
Pension Age, who elect to immediately draw benefits, and for deferred 
members and suspended tier 3 ill health pensioners who elect to draw benefits 
(other than on ill health grounds) on or after age 55 and before Normal Pension 
Age, and who: 
 
a) were not members of the LGPS before 1 October 2006 (known as Group 4 

members), whether to: 
 

 - waive, on compassionate grounds, any actuarial reduction that would 
otherwise be applied to benefits, if any, built up before 1 April 2014 
and/or 

TP3(1), TPSch 
2, para 2(1), 
R30(8) B30(5) 
& B30A(5) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
That the Council will not generally, during its normal course of 
business ordinarily consider this discretion due to the cost 
implications and the need to ensure that funding received from 
taxpayers is primarily utilised for the provision of services to 
benefit the community of Leighton-Linslade. 
 
In exceptional circumstances a request may be considered by the 
Personnel Sub-Committee on a case-by-case basis. 

P
age 48



 

Discretion Regulation Employer policy 
  

- waive, in whole or in part (on any grounds), any actuarial reduction that 
would otherwise be applied to benefits built up after 31 March 2014  

 
b) were members of the LGPS before 1 October 2006 and who reached age 

60 before 1 April 2016 (Group 1) whether to:  
 

- waive, on compassionate grounds, any actuarial reduction that would 
otherwise be applied to benefits built up before 1 April 2016 and/or 

  

- waive, in whole or in part (on any grounds), any actuarial reduction that 
would otherwise be applied to benefits built up after 31 March 2016  

 
c) were members of the LGPS before 1 October 2006 and who will reach age 

60 after 31 March 2020 (or who would reach age 60 between 1 April 2016 
and 31 March 2020 inclusive, but who would not meet their Retirement 
Age (CRA) before 1 April 2020 - in this instance CRA is the earlier of the 
date upon which the member would meet the 85 year rule or age 65 
(Group 3)) whether to:  
 

- waive on compassionate grounds, any actuarial reduction that would 
otherwise be applied to benefits built up before 1 April 2014 and / or  
 

- waive, in whole or in part (on any grounds), any actuarial reduction that 
would otherwise be applied to benefits built up after 31 March 2014  

 
d) were members of the LGPS before 1 October 2006 and who will reach age 

60 between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2020 inclusive and who will also 
reach their Critical Retirement Age (CRA) (in this instance CRA is the earlier 
of the date upon which the member would meet the 85 year rule or age 
65) before 1 April 2020 (Group 2), whether to:  

 

- waive, on compassionate grounds, any actuarial reduction that would 
otherwise be applied to benefits built up before 1 April 2020 and/or 
  

P
age 49



 

Discretion Regulation Employer policy 

- waive, in whole or in part (on any grounds), any actuarial reduction that 
would otherwise be applied to benefits built up after 31 March 2020. 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether, at full cost to the scheme employer, to grant extra annual pension of 
up to £7,194 (figure at April 2020*) to an active member or within 6 months of 
ceasing to be an active member by reason of redundancy or business efficiency 
(*figure is inflation proofed annually )(see Note 6) 

R31 

That the Council will not generally, during its normal course of 
business ordinarily consider this discretion due to the cost 
implications and the need to ensure that funding received from 
taxpayers is primarily utilised for the provision of services to 
benefit the community of Leighton-Linslade. 

Written policy is recommended 
Extend normal time limit for acceptance of a transfer value beyond 12 months 
from joining the LGPS. 

R100(6) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
Where a request from an active member to transfer previously 
attained pension rights into the LGPS is made in writing to the 
administering authority and the Scheme employer after the expiry 
of the period of 12 months, beginning with the date on which the 
employee first became an active member in an employment, a 
transfer will only be allowed where there has been a delay in 
receiving/obtaining information from the transferring scheme, or 
where other exceptional circumstances beyond the member’s 
control can be demonstrated by the member. 
 
This excludes any errors or omissions on behalf of the payroll 
contractor, the administering authority or the employer. 
 
These instances will be dealt with by discretion in extending the 
12-month timeframe in accordance with the discovery of the error 
or omission. 

P
age 50



 

Discretion Regulation Employer policy 

Written policy is recommended 
Each Scheme employer must appoint a person (“the adjudicator”) to consider 
applications from any person whose rights or liabilities under the Scheme are 
affected by: 
 
a) Decision under regulation 72 (first instance decisions); or  
b) Any other act or omission by a scheme employer or administering authority 
 
and to make a decision on such applications. 

R74  

Responsibility for determinations under this first stage of the 
Internal Disputes Resolution Procedure (IDRP) rests with “the 
adjudicator” as named below by the Scheme employer. 
 
Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s adjudicator’s details are: 
 
The Personnel Sub-Committee 
Address: The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, 
Bedfordshire 
Post Code: LU7 1HD 
Telephone number: 01525 631920 

 

Section 2:   
Discretionary policies in relation to scheme members (excluding councillor members) who ceased active membership on or after 1 April 2008 and before 1 April 2014 

Relevant regulations:  
·      LGPS (Administration) Regulations 2008 [SI 2008/239] [A]  
·      LGPS (Benefits, Membership and Contributions) Regulations 2007 (as amended) [SI 2007/1166] [B]  
·      LGPS (Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2008 [SI 2008/238] [T]  
·      LGPS (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014 [SI 2014/525] [TP]  
·      LGPS Regulations 2013 [SI 2013/2356] [R]  
·      LGPS 1997 (as amended) [1997/1612] [L]  

 

Discretion Regulation Employer policy 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to “switch on” the 85 year rule for a member voluntarily 
drawing benefits on or after age 55 and before age 60 (see Note 4). 

TPSch 2, para 1(2) & 
1(1)(c) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is:  
 
That the Council will not generally, during its normal course of 
business ordinarily consider this discretion due to the cost 
implications and the need to ensure that funding received from 

P
age 51



 

Discretion Regulation Employer policy 

taxpayers is primarily utilised for the provision of services to 
benefit the community of Leighton-Linslade. 
 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to “switch on” the 85 year rule upon the voluntary early 
payment of a suspended tier 3 ill health pension (see Note 4). 

TPSch 2, para 1(2) & 
1(1)(c) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is:  
 
That the Council will not generally, during its normal course of 
business ordinarily consider this discretion due to the cost 
implications and the need to ensure that funding received from 
taxpayers is primarily utilised for the provision of services to 
benefit the community of Leighton-Linslade. 
 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to waive, on compassionate grounds, the actuarial reduction 
applied to deferred benefits paid early (before age 65) (see Note 5). 

B30(5), TPSch 2, para 2(1) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
That the Council will not generally, during its normal course of 
business ordinarily consider this discretion due to the cost 
implications and the need to ensure that funding received from 
taxpayers is primarily utilised for the provision of services to 
benefit the community of Leighton-Linslade. 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to waive, on compassionate grounds, the actuarial reduction 
applied to suspended tier 3 ill health pension benefits paid early 
(before age 65) (see Note 5). 

B30A(5), TPSch 2, 
para 2(1) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
That the Council will not generally, during its normal course of 
business ordinarily consider this discretion due to the cost 
implications and the need to ensure that funding received from 
taxpayers is primarily utilised for the provision of services to 
benefit the community of Leighton-Linslade. 
 

 

P
age 52



 

Section 3  
Discretionary policies in relation to: 
• active welsh councillor members, and 
• councillor members who ceased active membership on or after 1 April 1998, and 
• any other scheme members who ceased active membership on or after 1 April 1998 and before 1 April 2008  

Relevant regulations:  
LGPS Regulations 1997 [SI 1997/1612]  
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2008 [SI 2008/238] [prefix T]  
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2008 [SI 2008/239] [prefix A]  
LGPS (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014 [SI 2014/525] [TP]  
The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 [SI 2013/2356] [prefix R]  

 

Discretion Regulation Employer Policy 

Written policy is compulsory 
Grant application for early payment of deferred benefits on or after age 
50 and before age 55. 

31(2) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is:  
That the Council will not generally, during its normal course of business 
ordinarily consider this discretion due to the cost implications and the 
need to ensure that funding received from taxpayers is primarily utilised 
for the provision of services to benefit the community of Leighton-
Linslade. 
 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to “switch on” the 85 year rule for a member with deferred 
benefits voluntarily drawing benefits on or after age 55 and before age 
60 (see Note 4). 

TPSch 2, para 
1(2) & 1(1)(f) 
& R60 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is:  
 
That the Council will not generally, during its normal course of business 
ordinarily consider this discretion due to the cost implications and the 
need to ensure that funding received from taxpayers is primarily utilised 
for the provision of services to benefit the community of Leighton-
Linslade. 
 

P
age 53



 

Discretion Regulation Employer Policy 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to waive, on compassionate grounds, the actuarial reduction 
applied to deferred benefits paid early (before age 65) (see Note 5). 

31(5) & TPSch 
2, para 2(1) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
That the Council will not generally, during its normal course of business 
ordinarily consider this discretion due to the cost implications and the 
need to ensure that funding received from taxpayers is primarily utilised 
for the provision of services to benefit the community of Leighton-
Linslade. 
 

 

Section 4:   
Discretionary policies in relation to scheme members who ceased active membership before 1 April 1998 

Relevant regulations: 
LGPS Regulation 1995 [SI 1995/1019] 
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions) Regulations 1997 [SI 1997/1613] [prefix TL] 
The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 {SI 1997/1612] (as amended) [prefix L] 
The Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2008 [SI 2008/239] [prefix A] 
LGPS (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014 [SI 2014/525] [TP] 
The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 [SI 2013/2356] [prefix R] 

 

Discretion Regulation Employer Policy 

Grant application for early payment of deferred benefits on or after age 50 
and before Normal Retirement Date on compassionate grounds.  

TP3(5A)(vi), TL4, L106(1) & 
D11(2)(c) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
That the Council will not generally, during its normal course 
of business ordinarily consider this discretion due to the 
cost implications and the need to ensure that funding 
received from taxpayers is primarily utilised for the 
provision of services to benefit the community of Leighton-
Linslade. 

P
age 54



 

 

Section 5:  
Discretionary policies in relation to employees of an employing authority that is defined under regulation 2 of The Local Government (Early Termination of 
Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006 (as amended) 

Relevant regulations: 
The Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006 (as amended) [SI 2006/2914] 

 

Discretion Regulation Employer Policy 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to base redundancy payments on an actual week’s pay where 
this exceeds the statutory week’s pay limit. 

5 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
That it will base redundancy pay on actual pay where the actual pay 
exceeds the statutory maximum. 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to award lump sum compensation of up to 104 weeks’ pay in 
cases of redundancy, termination of employment on efficiency grounds, 
or cessation of a joint appointment. 

6 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
That the Council will base the number of weeks compensation in cases 
of redundancy on the statutory redundancy scheme. In some 
exceptional circumstances the Council may consider cases of early 
retirement in the efficient interest of the service. 
 
In these circumstances, the provisions and detail set out in the local 
conditions of service, as agreed by Council, will prevail in this respect. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 55



 

Section 6:  
Discretionary policies in relation to former employees of an employing authority that is a body that is a scheduled body, a designate body, or a body that is deemed to 
be a scheduled body under the LGPS Regulations 2013 and equivalent predecessor regulations (excluding admitted bodies). 

Relevant regulations: 
The Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2000 (as amended) [SI 2000/1410] 

 

Discretion Regulation Employer Policy 

Written policy is compulsory 
How to apportion any surviving spouses or civil partner’s annual 
compensatory added years’ payment where the deceased person is 
survived by more than one spouse or civil partner. 

21(4) 
Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is:  
That any benefits to be paid will be shared equally amongst the 
relevant parties/beneficiaries. 

Written policy is compulsory 
How it will decide to whom any children's annual compensatory added 
years payments are to be paid where children's pensions are not 
payable under the LGPS (because the employee had not joined the 
LGPS) and, in such a case, how the annual added years will be 
apportioned amongst the eligible children. 

25(2) 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
That any benefits to be paid will be shared equally amongst the 
relevant parties/beneficiaries. 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether in respect of the spouse of a person who ceased employment 
before 1 April 1998 and where the spouses or civil partner remarries, 
enters into a new civil partnership or cohabits after 1 April 1998, the 
normal pension suspension rules should be disapplied i.e. whether the 
spouse’s or civil partners annual compensatory added years payments 
should continue to be paid. 

21(7) 

 
 
Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
That the normal pension suspension rules, will be disapplied. 
 
 
 
 

P
age 56



 

Discretion Regulation Employer Policy 

Written policy is compulsory 
If, under the preceding decision, the authority's policy is to apply the 
normal suspension rules, whether the spouse's or civil partner’s annual 
compensatory added years payment should be reinstated after the end 
of the remarriage, new civil partnership or cohabitation. 

21(5)  

 
Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is:  
As suspension of pensions will not be applied under Regulation 21(7) 
this discretion will not be relevant to the authority and is therefore 
redundant. 
 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether, in respect of the spouses or civil partner of a person who 
ceased employment before 1 April 1998 and where the spouses or civil 
partner remarries or cohabits or enters into a civil partnership on or 
after 1 April 1998 with another person who is also entitled to a spouses 
or civil partners annual CAY payment, the normal rules requiring one of 
them to forgo payment whilst the period of marriage, civil partnership 
or co habitation lasts, should be disapplied i.e. whether the spouses or 
civil partners annual CAY payments should continue to be paid to both 
of them. 

21(7) 
Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
That the normal pension suspension rules will be disapplied. 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to and to what extent to reduce or suspend the member’s 
annual compensatory added years payment during any period of re-
employment in local government and thereafter? 

17 & 19 
Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is: 
 
That the normal pension suspension rules, will be disapplied. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 57



 

Section 7:  
Discretionary policies each employing authority may apply in the exercise of its discretionary powers to make any award in respect of leavers, deaths and reductions in 
pay that occurred post 15 January 2012   
 

Relevant regulations:      
The Local Government (Discretionary Payments) (Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 [SI 2011/2954] 
 

 

Discretion Regulation Employer Policy 

Written policy is compulsory 
Whether to pay an injury award and in what circumstances: 
 

Whether to make an injury award to those who sustain an injury or 
contract a disease as a result of anything they were required to do in 
performing the duties of their job and in consequence of which they:  
 

- suffer a reduction remuneration, or  
 

- cease to be employed as a result of an incapacity which is likely to be 
permanent and which was caused by the injury or disease, or 
 

 - die leaving a surviving spouse, civil partner, eligible cohabiting 
partner or dependant. 

3 - 7 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is:  
 
That the authority has, after due regard to the facility, determined not 
to adopt the discretionary powers in respect of the injury allowance 
regulations as it cannot be satisfied that such a policy would be 
workable, affordable and reasonable having regard to the foreseeable 
cost and the use of public funds. 
 
Not withstanding the above the authority may have other insurance 
arrangements in place that may be more appropriate for such 
circumstances and will look towards these products when relevant. 

Written policy is compulsory 
How to determine the amount of an injury award and for how long will 
it be paid. 

3 - 7 

Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s policy is:  
 
That the discretion is redundant as it will not operate an injury 
allowance scheme. 

 

 

 

P
age 58



 

Additional notes on discretions  

Further information, including a full list of discretions and a technical guide to employer policies, is available at http://www.lgpsregs.org/resources/guidesetc.php 

Discretion Regulation Note 1 

 
Whether, how much, and in what 
circumstances to contribute to a 
shared cost APC scheme. 

R16(2)(e) & 
R16 (4)(d) 

The Scheme employer may choose to fund, in whole or in part, any arrangement entered into by an active 
scheme member to pay additional pension contributions by way of regular contributions in accordance with 
Regulation 16(2)(e), or by way of a lump sum in accordance with Regulation 16(4)(d). 
 

The Scheme employer may enter into an APC contract with a Scheme member who is contributing to the 
MAIN section of the Scheme in order to purchase additional pension of not more than the additional pension 
limit (£7,194 from April 2020, figure is inflation-proofed annually).  
 

Any extra pension granted by the Scheme employer under a SCAPC arrangement would be subject to an 
actuarial reduction for early payment where, other than in a case of ill health retirement, that extra pension 
is drawn before the member’s Normal Pension Age.   

The amount of additional contribution to be paid is determined by reference to actuarial guidance issued by 
the Secretary of State. 
 

Consideration needs to be given to the circumstances under which the Scheme employer may wish to use 
their discretion to fund in whole or in part an employee’s Additional Pension Contributions. 

 

P
age 59



 

Discretion Regulation Note 2 

Whether all or some benefits can be 
paid if an employee reduces their 
hours or grade (flexible retirement) 

Regulation R30(6) 
& TP11 (2) 

An active member who is aged 55 or over and who, with the agreement of their employer, reduces 
their working hours or grade of employment may, with the further consent of their employer, elect to 
receive immediate payment of all or part of the retirement pension to which they would be entitled in 
respect of that employment as if that member were no longer an employee in local government service 
on the date of the reduction in hours or grade (adjusted by the amount shown as appropriate in 
actuarial guidance issued by the Secretary of State – separate policy required under Regulation 30(8)). 
 

As part of the policy making decision the Scheme employer must consider whether, in addition to the 
benefits the member may have accrued prior to 1 April 2008 (which the member must draw), to permit 
the member to choose to draw all, part or none of the pension benefits they built up after 31 March 
2008 and before 1 April 2014 and all, part of none of the pension benefits they built up after 1 April 
2014. 

 

Discretion Regulation Note 3 

Whether to waive, in whole or in 
part, actuarial reduction on benefits 
paid on flexible retirement. 

R30(8) 

Where a Scheme employer’s policy under regulation 30(6) (flexible retirement) is to consent to the 
immediate release of benefits in respect of an active member who is aged 55 or over, those benefits 
must be adjusted by an amount shown as appropriate in actuarial guidance issued by the Secretary of 
State (commonly referred to as actuarial reduction or early payment reduction). 
 

A Scheme employer (or former employer as the case may be) may agree to waive in whole or in part 
and at their own cost, any actuarial reduction that may be required by the Scheme Regulations. 

Due consideration must be given to the financial implications of agreeing to waive in whole or in part 
any actuarial reduction.  Where flexible retirement is agreed for an employee aged 5 or over but under 
Normal Pension Age, the cost of waiving an actuarial reduction, in whole or in part, would have to be 
met by, and paid to the Pension Fund by, the scheme employer.   

 

P
age 60



 

Discretion Regulation Note 4 

Whether to “switch on” the 85-year 
rule for a member voluntarily 
drawing benefits on or after age 55 
and before age 60 (excludes flexible 
retirement) 

TP Sch 2 para 
1(2) & 1(1)(c) 
& 1(1)(f) and 
R60 

Where a scheme member leaves employment and elects to draw their benefits at or after the age of 55 and 
before the age of 60 those benefits will be actuarially reduced unless their Scheme employer agrees to meet 
the full or part cost of those reductions as a result of the member otherwise being protected under the 85 
year rule as set out in previous Regulations. 
 

So as to avoid the member suffering the full reduction to their benefits the Scheme employer can ‘switch 
on’ the 85 year rule protections thereby allowing the member to receive fully or partly unreduced benefits 
but subject to the Scheme employer paying a strain cost to the Pension Fund. 

The employer can also exercise a discretion (see below) to waive any actuarial reductions (including where 
an actuarial reduction may still be applied to a member’s benefits after ‘switching back on’ the 85 year rule 
in full), at a cost to the employer. 

 

Discretion Regulation Note  5 

Whether to waive any actuarial 
reduction, on compassionate 
grounds or otherwise, for a member 
voluntarily drawing benefits before 
normal pension age (excludes 
flexible retirement)  

TP3(1), 
TPSch 2, para 
2(1), R30(8), 
B30(5) & 
B30A(5) 

A Scheme employer may agree to waive in whole or in part and at their own cost, any actuarial reduction 
that may be required by the Scheme Regulations. 
 

Due consideration must be given to the financial implications of agreeing to waive in whole or in part any 
actuarial reduction. 
 

There is no definition in the regulations of ‘compassionate grounds’. 

 

P
age 61



 

Discretion Regulation Note 6 

Whether to grant additional annual 
pension to an active member or 
within 6 months of ceasing to be an 
active member by reason of 
redundancy or business efficiency 
(by up to £7,194). 

R31 

A Scheme employer may resolve to award 
 

(a) an active member, or 
(b) a member who was an active member but dismissed by reason of redundancy, or business 

efficiency, or whose employment was terminated by mutual consent on grounds of business 
efficiency, 

 

additional annual pension of, in total (including any additional pension purchased by the Scheme employer 
under Regulation 16), not more than the additional pension limit (£7,194 from 1 April 2020). 
 

Any additional pension awarded is payable from the same date as any pension payable under other 
provisions of the Scheme Regulations from the account to which the additional pension is attached. 
 

Any extra pension granted by the scheme employer would be subject to an actuarial reduction for early 
payment where, other than in a case of ill health retirement or retirement on redundancy or business 
efficiency grounds, that extra pension is drawn before the member’s Normal Pension Age. 
 

In the case of a member falling within sub-paragraph (b) above, the resolution to award additional pension 
must be made within 6 months of the date that the member’s employment ended. 
 

Scheme employers should take care to avoid the policy being discriminatory on age or gender grounds. 
 

Awards of additional pension may have implications for a member’s Annual and Lifetime allowances and 
could result in a tax charge.  

 

P
age 62



Determining the rate of employee contributions 

(see: Discretion 1 of the Town Council’s Statement of Pension Discretions; 

regulations R9(1) & (3) 

 

1) Employee salary scales are reviewed annually with effect from the new 

financial year of 1 April.  

 

2) Employee pension contribution rates will ordinarily be assessed at this time, 

with any variations to the rate of contribution being applied from 1 April 

following any re-assessment of salary scales. 

 

3) Employee pension contribution rates are ordinarily based on contractual 

annual pay. 

 

4) The Council may choose to review the band and rate during a Scheme year if 

there is a material change in an employee’s contractual pay. An employee’s 

pay might change if they change jobs, they are promoted or demoted, their 

job is regraded, they receive a pay award or they change their contractual 

hours. If an employee receives a backdated pay award or re-grading, this 

could lead to a retrospective change in contribution band. The Council can 

decide only to apply the new rate from the date the pay award or re-grading is 

actioned on the payroll.  

 

5) A material change as outlined above is determined as a variance of more than 

25% of the existing total annual remuneration and the mid-year review would 

be subject to agreement from the Personnel Sub-Committee.  

 

6) In accordance with S. 4.1 of the Employee Handbook, overtime payments 

should be authorised in advance by the Town Clerk. 

 

7) Non-contractual overtime will not ordinarily be taken into account when 

determining employee pension contribution rates.  

 

8) However, if, when the rate is reviewed at the end of the year, it is clear that 

the employee worked a significant amount of non-contractual overtime which 

would have placed them in the next band up and that this is likely to 

continue on an ongoing basis, the Council may choose to apply the rate 

applicable to that next band up for the following year.  

 

9) Whenever the Council changes the band to which the employee is allocated, 

the Council must, as soon as is reasonably practicable notify the employee of 

the new contribution rate that is payable and the date from which it is to be 

applied (ideally in advance).  

 

May 2021 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 64



 
 

FLEXIBLE RETIREMENT POLICY 
 

1. Purpose 
 

1.1 Leighton-Linslade Town Council is committed to providing greater choice and 
flexibility to its employees with regard to making their transition from working life to 
retirement an enjoyable experience.  

 
1.2 The benefits for the council: 

 Enables the retention and transfer of valuable experience, skills and 
knowledge which would otherwise be lost if an employee were to retire or 
leave 

 Assists with workforce planning and mentoring, particularly for specialist 
roles, and growing our own.  

 
1.3 The benefits for the employee:  

 

 Eases the transition from working life to retirement 

 Allows balance between work and outside commitments 
 

1.4 This policy sets out the council’s approach to flexible retirement and the main 
conditions for an application for flexible retirement to be considered and approved.  
 

1.5 This policy seeks to ensure that the council complies with its legal obligations and 
also outlines options in relation to flexible retirement.  
 

1.6 The policy should be read alongside the Council’s adopted Statement of Pension 
Discretions. 
 

1.7 Employees considering retirement can obtain further information from Bedfordshire 
Pension Fund: http://www.bedspensionfund.org/  

 
2. Scope 

 
2.1 This policy applies to all employees who are members of the Local Government 

Pension Scheme (LGPS).  
 

3. When flexible retirement may be agreed 
 

3.1 A Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) member may, from the age of 55, 
claim their pension benefits early, subject to the Council’s agreement, if they reduce 
their hours or move to a less senior position, provided they have met the 2 years 
vesting (active membership) period in the LGPS. Employees can draw the pension 
benefits they have built up and continue working, however the pension will normally 
be reduced if it is claimed before Normal Pension Age (NPA).  
 

3.2 The council’s policy is that the reduction in hours and/or grade/responsibilities must 
result in a reduction in gross salary of between 20% and 49.999%. The changes 
should be considered permanent within that role.  

Page 65

http://www.bedspensionfund.org/


 Flexible Retirement Policy Page 2 of 3 

 

 
3.3 If the council agrees to flexible retirement, in addition to their pension benefits the 

employee can receive their pay from their job on reduced hours or grade, as well as 
continuing to pay into their pension scheme. By continuing to pay into their pension 
scheme, the employee will accrue additional pension benefits payable on retirement.  
 

3.4 Flexible retirement is only available to employees continuing in their current post on 
reduced hours or, with agreement, moving to another post within the council, at a 
lower grade and/or reduced hours. This ensures maximum benefit to the council 
through the retention of acquired skills and experience.  
 

3.5 Flexible retirement options are open to those employees who want to partially retire, 
thereby easing them into retirement. Requests will only be considered where the 
implications for the service, in particular the resourcing impact from a person’s 
reduction in working hours or level of responsibility, have been fully assessed. 
Service needs and efficiency are essential considerations when assessing any 
request.  
 

3.6 All requests for flexible retirement must also be able to demonstrate a business 
benefit to the council in terms of retention of valuable skills and knowledge. Each 
request will be considered on its merits and will only be agreed if it is in the council’s 
economic and/or operational interests to do so.  
 

3.7 Where a Flexible Retirement request is approved by the council, any actuarial 
reduction to the benefits is borne by the employee.  The Town Council may consider 
waiving reductions in rare exceptional circumstances.  
 

3.8 Employees who do not wish to reduce their income but would like to work flexibly 
have the right to request flexible working in accordance with statutory provisions 
(see S.4 of the Employee Handbook). There is no automatic right for a request to be 
approved.  
 
 

4. Reasons for refusing a Flexible Retirement request 
 

4.1 Other than in rare and exceptional circumstances (as determined by the Personnel 
Sub-Committee), requests for flexible retirement will be refused if one or more of the 
following criteria applies: 
 

 The employee does not meet the age or membership criteria of their pension 
scheme. 

 The proposal will not result in a reduction in gross salary of between 20% - 
49.999% 

 There will be a cost burden to the council 

 There is evidence that the proposal is not in the council’s economic or 
operational interests.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 66



 Flexible Retirement Policy Page 3 of 3 

 

5. Procedure 
 

5.1 Employees should firstly discuss their proposal with their immediate line manager or 
Head of Service. The Town Council, as employer, will send a request for pensions 
information to Bedfordshire Pension Fund. The information received back will be 
assessed against this policy and discussed further with the employee.  
 

5.2 Should the employee wish to proceed further on the basis that the Council may 
consider a flexible retirement request (based on the information provided by Beds 
Pension Fund), a formal request must be put in writing to the Town Clerk. 
 

5.3 Any requests will be considered by the Personnel Sub-Committee at its next 
scheduled meeting.  The Sub-Committee may seek guidance from senior 
management, the Council’s Human Resources support provider and/or Bedfordshire 
Pension Fund advisors, as appropriate. The employee will be advised of the 
outcome within 5 working days of the Sub-Committee meeting.  
 

5.4 Any appeal following the outcome of a decision by the Personnel Sub-Committee 
will be heard by the Disciplinary, Grievance and Appeals Sub-Committee whose 
decision is final.  
 

5.5 The above procedure also applies in respect of requests from employees regarding 
any of the Town Council’s adopted Pensions Discretions.  

 
 
 
 
Adopted by Leighton-Linslade Town Council:   

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 68



 
 
 
 
 

Personnel Sub-Committee      
 

Date:  5 July 2021   

 

Title:   Policy Review report 

 

Purpose of the Report:  
To provide Committee with proposed minor amendments to the Sickness Absence 
Procedure and to consider approval of a new Equality in Employment Procedure.  

 

Contact Officer:  
Sarah Sandiford, Head of Democratic and Central Services/Deputy Town Clerk 
 

 

Corporate Objective/s n/a  
Statutory obligation as employer 
  

Implications:   

Financial No  

Human Resources No  

Operational/Service 
delivery 

No  

Procedural/Legal Yes To ensure the Council is compliant with 
its responsibilities as employer 

Risk/Health and Safety No  

Environmental Aims No  

 

1 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Should Members be minded, the proposals are: 
 

1.1 To recommend approval of the minor amendments to the current Sickness 
Absence Procedure (Appendix A).  

 

1.2 To recommend approval of the Equality in Employment Procedure (Appendix 
B), which will replace the outdated Equal Opportunities Policy and Disability 
Discrimination Statement. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 69

Agenda Item 8



 
  
2  SICKNESS ABSENCE PROCEDURE 

 

2.1 The Town Council adopted its current Sickness Absence Procedure in june 2015 
and as reported annually to the Sub-Committee, this has resulted in a significant 
reduction in staff sickness absence as well as providing a mechanism for 
occupational health support to employees with longer term conditions.    

 
2.2 The Procedure has now been reviewed by the Council’s Human Resources 

provider and is attached for consideration.  
 
2.3 Proposed changes can be summarised as follows:   
 

(i) No significant changes in the body of the procedure or how sickness 
absence is managed. 

(ii) Minor amendments at paragraphs 9.2 and 9.4, shown in red. 
(iii) Complete removal of the “Fit for Work” scheme which is now defunct. 
(iv) Additions at 10.4 and 10.5 to highlight where support is available, 

particularly following the Covid-19 pandemic and its impact on 
employees.  

 

3 EQUALITY IN EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE 

 

3.1 Following adoption of its Equalities Statement earlier this year, the Council is in 
the process of reviewing its policies and documents to ensure they are up to date 
and in accordance with current equalities principles and terminology. All work and 
initiatives in respect of Equalities will be reported periodically to Council.  

 
3.2 The attached Equality in Employment Procedure has been developed in 

conjunction with the Council’s Human Resources provider and is intended to 
replace the Equal Opportunities Policy and the Disability Discrimination 
Statement, both of which are outdated. 

 
 
 
 
End.  

Page 70



Ratified by Leighton-Linslade Town Council on 29th June 2015 
Reviewed & Updated June 2021 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

SICKNESS ABSENCE PROCEDURE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 71



  1 

 
 

 
 
1. Our Policy 
 
1.1  Leighton-Linslade Town Council is concerned for the well-being of its 

employees and seeks to protect their health and safety by creating a 
sound working environment free from danger. When illness or injury 
occurs, appropriate paid leave is given to employees.  

 
1.2 In return, Leighton-Linslade Town Council expects its employees to 

respond in the following ways: 
 

 to maintain good attendance at work;  

 to care for their health and to seek medical help whenever 
appropriate, and; 

 to keep their manager fully informed of the position if they are 
unable to attend. 

 
2. The purpose of this procedure 

 
2.1  This procedure is intended to ensure that sickness absences are 

handled promptly, sensitively and consistently by Leighton-Linslade 
Town Council, through its managers.  

 
2.2  Managers have direct responsibility for managing sickness absence.  It 

is essential, therefore, that they are fully familiar with Leighton-Linslade 
Town Council’s procedures for reporting, monitoring and managing 
sickness absence, and for ensuring that their staff are aware of the 
reporting procedures. 

 
2.3 The procedure advocates early intervention and in each case 

management will take account of prognosis, information gained via 
Occupational Health, individual circumstances and service needs. The 
procedure covers employees with short term absence and employees 
on long term sickness absence. 

 
2.4 Sickness absence due to industrial injury, disability and pregnancy are 

not excluded from this policy. The detailed application of the provisions 
may be adjusted depending on the circumstances. See Paragraph 10. 

 
3. Reporting absence 
 
3.1  Managers must ensure that all their employees understand the 

requirements of how and when to notify their manager that they are not 
able to attend work.   

Page 72



  2 

 
 

3.2  Managers must: 
 

 specify the person/people to whom the employee must report 
their absence; 

 specify the time by which this must be done and any other 
conditions specific to the job with which employees must comply 
when they are unable to attend work; 

 ensure they record the expected return to work date, or agree 
when the employee will ring again to update and provide a return 
to work date; 

 ensure that sickness records are maintained with strict accuracy 
for all periods of sickness, and monitoring action / meetings as 
soon as possible. 

 
3.3 When reporting absence, the employee must state: 

 why they cannot attend; 

 what steps they are taking to assist their recovery;  

 when they expect to attend work again, and; 

 where possible, any work commitments which may need to be            
     covered in their absence.  
 

The following reporting procedure must be followed by employees. 
Failure to follow this procedure may result in disciplinary action and/or 
non-payment of sick pay. 
 
First day of absence 

 
All employees who are unable to attend for work should personally 
inform the designated person of their absence, by telephone. They 
should give the reason for the absence and state when they expect to 
return to work. Managers should ensure employees are aware of the 
arrangements for reporting absence. 
 
If the designated person is unavailable, then contact should be made 
with another line manager in another service area.  If an employee is 
unable to reach a line manager personally they must telephone again 
until they make personal contact.  The only exception to this is if there 
is a pre-agreed arrangement with the line manager. Where the 
employee’s health condition renders them unable to personally speak 
to the designated person, their absence should be reported by a 
nominated third party e.g. relative or friend.  

 
Fourth day of absence 

 
If the absence continues into a fourth day, (including weekend, rest 
days and public holidays), the employee should again notify their 
manager giving some indication of the nature of the illness and the 
likely length of absence. 

 

Page 73



  3 

 
 

Eighth Day of absence 
 

If your absence continues for more than seven consecutive days (N.B 
not just working days) you must get a Fit Note  
 

3.4 Where absence appears to be for a work-related reason, managers 
must ensure that any health and safety reporting requirements have 
been met, that Occupational Health and/or health and safety officers 
are involved if appropriate, and that any necessary remedial action is 
taken. 

 
3.5 Managers will refer an employee to Occupational Health, on day 1 

notification, in certain cases such as work related stress absence and 
other needs where required.  

 
Absence levels should be monitored. 
All time periods for monitoring are pro-rata for part-time. 
 
It is the responsibility of line managers to monitor absence levels within 
their teams and take further action as necessary when trigger points 
are reached and/or where there are concerns about an employee’s 
absence levels. Managers should discuss absence with employees 
informally when their absence reaches 10 days or 3 occasions.    
 
Trigger points are set in order to determine when absence levels 
become a matter for further investigation particularly to identify support 
required. Leighton-Linslade Town Council has set the following trigger 
levels: 
 

 3 periods or 10 working days or more absence in a rolling 12 
months’ period 

 All long term absences (over 20 consecutive working days) 

 Obvious patterns of absence (eg: regular Friday and/or Monday 
absences; repeated absences linked to holidays) 

 
The line manager must monitor continuing absence 
 
The line manager should maintain regular contact with the employee 
in order that the situation can be monitored effectively.  
 
For long term absence (20 consecutive days or more) the line manager 
and employee can agree a suitable frequency of contact during the 
employee’s absence. 
 
Discussions should include an update on the employee’s condition, the 
treatment they are receiving and some idea of when they expect to 
return to work. 
 
 

 

Page 74



  4 

 
 

4. On return to work 
 
4.1 A Return to Work discussion will always be conducted after every 

period of absence on the day the employee returns to work and the 
appropriate return to work form completed (Appendix 1). The majority 
of discussions will be very quick and straightforward, being essentially 
an acknowledgement of the person’s illness and a welcome back to 
work. 

 
4.2 The Return to Work discussion is all about supporting employees and 

helping them to resolve problems. It is likely the most effective single 
technique for identifying contributory factors and reducing absence. 

 
4.3 Managers must ensure that any necessary action is taken and 

recorded, following the Return to Work meeting.   
 

The Meeting 
 
When an employee returns after any period of sickness absence, the      
manager must talk with the employee to: 

 establish reasons for absence and likelihood of 
reoccurrence; 

 ascertain the employee’s state of health (e.g. fully able to 
work, or in need of temporary adaptations to the duties, 
taking account where relevant of any suggestions on the 
Fit Note from the employee’s own GP), consider 
adjustments for disability in accordance with the Equality 
Act 2010; 

 see whether there is anything that needs to be done to 
avoid a recurrence of the illness;  

 consider whether a referral to Occupational Health is 
necessary; 

 complete the Return-to-Work form. 
 

5. Attendance Review Meeting (Informal Stage) 
 
5.1 This stage applies where the employee has met the triggers set out 

above. 
 
5.2 The purpose of this stage is to make a full and in-good-faith search for 

the cause(s) of the sickness absence, to manage any work-related 
factors that may contribute, to give Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s 
support to the employee’s own efforts at recovery, and thereby to allow 
the employee to return to an acceptable level of attendance if possible. 

 
5.3 The employee’s manager may refer the employee to Occupational     
           Health, if appropriate, before arranging the Attendance Review     
           Meeting. 
 

Page 75



  5 

 
 

5.4 The employee’s manager must alert the employee, in writing, to the 
fact that this stage of the procedure has been triggered. 

 
Attendance Review Meeting 
 
Prior to the meeting gather all necessary facts about number of day’s 
absence, work related problems and any uncompleted tasks etc.  
 
Managers will, in discussion with the employee:  
 

 investigate the reasons for sickness absence, and any disability 
related reasons or work, or personal or domestic problems that 
may underlie it; 

 be flexible about arrangements to discuss sensitive medical 
issues (e.g. allowing the employee to talk to a manager of their 
own sex); 

 Explain the effect of the employee’s absence on the work in a 
sensitive manner and update the employee on changes in the 
workplace; 

 summarise any medical information/Occupational Health 
information; 

 explore options which may permit the employee to return to work 
or improve attendance, specifically addressing disability-related 
absence and reasonable adjustments where this is relevant; 

 set standards and targets and arrange to monitor attendance; 

 if necessary, explain the next stage of the procedure; 

 keep accurate records of the matters discussed and keep a 
record of the meeting. 

 
The employee is 
 

 entitled to  
- put across their side of things; 
- confidentiality of medical and other personal issues;  
- a copy of the records of the matters discussed. 

 responsible for  
- achieving good attendance where possible; 
- informing the manager of the cause of sickness absence; 
- attending meetings; 
- co-operating with any support offered, where appropriate; 
- keeping the manager informed of relevant facts and issues; 
- providing medical certificates, evidence of hospital 
 appointments etc.; 
- co-operating with requests for further medical information 
 from GP, consultant etc. 

 
Where this stage does not achieve the required improvement in 
attendance, the manager must commence the next stage.  

Page 76



  6 

 
 

Generally the period for improvement will be 1 month, with sustained 
improvement for 2 months, for short term absence and where there are 
obvious patterns of absence, and up to 3 months for long term 
absence.  The expectation is that improvements are maintained for a 
period of 12 months from the ARM and that absence levels will be 
brought below or in line with Leighton-Linslade Town Council’s triggers. 
 

6. First Formal Review 
 
6.1  The precise timing of the First Formal Review depends on the 

circumstances of the individual case and the review stages set out 
above. This stage applies where the employee has absence beyond 
the levels set at the Attendance Review meeting, including where there 
are obvious patterns of absence. 

 
6.2 The employee’s manager will seek up to date medical/Occupational 

Health information, if appropriate, before arranging the First Formal 
Review. 

 

6.3 If the employee is unable to attend such a meeting by coming into 
work, see Special Considerations, section 9 below.  The employee 
must be told that this is the first formal stage of the sickness absence 
procedure in writing.  

 
First Formal Review 
 
The meeting should be supportive and aim to resolve the situation.  It 
will seek to identify the reasons for the absence and the measures that 
can be taken to improve attendance. 
 
The purpose of the meeting is to inform the employee that their 
sickness absence remains unsatisfactory and to alert the employee to 
the difficulties caused by their absences e.g. key objectives not being 
delivered; impact on other team members, Leighton-Linslade Town 
Council’s customers etc., and: 

 

 for continuing absence: to explore sensitively the possibilities of 
a return to work, effects on service delivery and how the 
employee’s workload can be handled in the meantime, discuss 
and consider any reasonable adjustments that may be made to 
assist return and/or; 

 to arrange a referral to Occupational Health if necessary; 

 for repeated absences: to identify any underlying cause for the 
absences (including identifying any  reasonable adjustments that 
may be needed), and to arrange a referral to Occupational Health 
if necessary; 

 
 
 
 

Page 77



  7 

 
 

6.4 At the close of the First Formal Review the manager can decide: 
 

either that the employee’s return to work/level of attendance is 
satisfactory, and the procedure can be halted at this stage (but 
resumed at this stage if an unsatisfactory level of absence 
recurs within one year); 

or to arrange a further follow-up meeting for instance where 
Occupational Health envisages a return to work within the 
reasonably foreseeable future (guide timing: one month after 

           the First Formal Review, for short term absence or where there 
are obvious patterns of absence or up to three months for long 
term absence. This is a guide, however, and a sensible 
approach should be taken when determining the appropriate 
timescale); 

or to give a warning advising the employee that attendance is 
unsatisfactory and that the matter will progress to a Final 
Review if a return to work/an acceptable level of attendance is 
not achieved within a stated time.  The warning will remain in 
place for one year and attendance will remain under review for 
this period.  At any point during this review period, the matter 
can progress to a Final Review if an unsatisfactory level of 
absence recurs. 

 
The warning will be confirmed in writing, stating clearly the standards 
and targets that the employee must meet and any interim monitoring 
arrangements. 
 

6.5 The employee’s manager must ensure that sickness records are 
updated. 

 
7. Final Review/Consideration of dismissal  
 
7.1  The precise timing of the Final Review depends on the circumstances 

 of the individual case. This stage applies where the employee: 
 

 has received a warning and does not appear to have a 
reasonable prospect of returning to work, in the reasonably 
foreseeable future or; 

 has not achieved an acceptable level of attendance in spite of a 
warning. 

 
7.2 The employee’s manager will seek up to date medical/Occupational 

Health information, if appropriate, before arranging the Final Review. 
 
7.3  The designated manager will hold a hearing with the Employee to 

consider whether or not to dismiss the employee on the grounds of 
his/her continued absence(s), following non-compliance with a formal 
warning. 

 

Page 78



  8 

 
 

7.4 An extension to a warning can be considered as an alternative to 
dismissal in exceptional circumstances and where justified. 

 
8. Appeals 
 
8.1  Against a warning 
 

Employees can appeal against a warning. Appeals must be sent to the 
Corporate Governance Manager who will allocate an independent 
manager to review the case. At the appeal, the outcome will be to 
confirm the warning, or uphold the appeal and cancel the original 
warning. The decision is final. 

 
8.2 Against dismissal 
 
 Appeals against dismissal will be heard by elected Members.  
 

An employee who wishes to appeal must submit a written notice of 
appeal to either the Corporate Governance Manager (if appealing 
against a warning) or the Town Clerk (if appealing against dismissal) 
within ten working days of receiving a warning/notification of dismissal. 
The written notice of appeal must give details of the grounds for the 
appeal. 

 
Appeals against a warning will normally be heard within two weeks of 
the appeal being lodged. Appeals against dismissal will normally be 
heard by elected members within four weeks of being logged. 

 
The employees’ manager must ensure that personnel records are kept 
updated. 

 
9. Special Considerations 
 
9.1  The employee can be represented/accompanied at the meetings and 

hearings within the formal procedure (including appeals) by an 
accredited trade union representative, employee representative or work 
colleague, and must be informed of this. The employee must be given 
at least five working days’ notice in writing of meetings, and ten 
working days’ notice in writing of meetings to consider possible 
dismissal. 

 
9.2  Meetings under this procedure may be held remotely using an agreed 

social platform or at the employee’s home if appropriate and the 
employee agrees. In exceptional cases where it is not possible to hold 
a meeting with the employee either at work or at home, the employee 
may authorise a trade union representative or work colleague to speak 
on their behalf. Alternatively, or in combination with any of the above, 
the employee may wish to respond in writing or via an equivalent 
method. 

 

Page 79



  9 

 
 

9.3  Managers must be particularly alert to the possibility that absence may 
be caused by a disability, and consider getting specialist advice (e.g. 
Occupational Health) where this is the case. See Para 10.2 for further 
information. 

  
9.4 Where it appears that the employee may be suffering from ill -health 

that would qualify for early retirement on the grounds of permanent 
incapacity under the pension scheme, the relevant provisions of the 
pension scheme will operate. Occupational Health guidance should be 
sought in conjunction with Human Resources support in the formal 
stages of the process. 

 
9.5 An employee who is absent from work due to ill-health is expected: 
 

 To be at home and available to be visited or contacted by their 
manager as appropriate and as agreed; 

 Not to undertake any activity inconsistent with their illness; 

 Not to go away on holiday without the specific permission of 
their manager;  

 To attend any appointments as determined by Leighton-
Linslade Town Council, as required. 

  
 9.6 An employee’s failure to comply with a referral to Occupational Health 

without good reason or any other breach of the sickness scheme could 
be regarded as misconduct. 

 
 9.7 Redeployment can be considered at any stage where the nature of the 

sickness absence means this is a suitable option. Occupational Health 
must advise managers whether the employee is fit to be considered for 
suitable alternative work. 

 
9.8 In exceptional circumstances, where all other avenues to manage a 

health condition have been exhausted, Occupational Health may 
recommend extended triggers as a further reasonable adjustment. This 
is unlikely to be recommended until formal procedures have 
commenced.   

 
10. General Information 

 
10.1 Accidents at Work / Notifiable Industrial Diseases  
 

Absences as a result of accidents at work are covered by the Sickness 
Absence Procedure and are included in sickness absence statistics.  
Where an incident occurs at work it is the Manager’s responsibility to 
investigate. 
 
Managers hearing cases of sickness absence including absences 
relating to accidents at work and notifiable industrial diseases should 
give careful consideration to the causes of the absences when 
reaching a decision as to the sanction to impose on the employee.  

Page 80



  10 

 
 

 
Where there is a high frequency of accidents at work, which results in a 
cause for concern, or where the accident at work results in long term 
sickness absence then these incidents should be considered as part of 
the trigger mechanism.   
 
Careful consideration needs to be made prior to formal action under 
the Sickness Absence Procedure, especially as it could result in 
dismissal on the grounds of ill health. 
 

10.2    Disabled Employees 
 

Managers need to be aware that employees, with disabilities that 
would meet the criteria laid down by the Equality Act 2010, may 
experience change in the impact of their disability on their work 
performance over a period of time, and that existing employees may 
develop disabilities, which impact on their working lives. A key 
requirement of the Equality Act 2010 is for employers to make 
“reasonable adjustment” to accommodate the needs of disabled 
employees. The duty to make adjustments only applies if the employer 
knows, or should reasonably be expected to know, that the employee 
is disabled.  
 
Examples of adjustments include: 
 

 Allowing the employee to be absent during working hours for 
rehabilitation, assessment or treatment.  

 Looking at alterations to the workplace and/or working practices 
if this assists the employee to return to, or remain at work; 

 Considering flexible working. 
 

10.3    Pregnancy Related Absence 
 

All sickness absence during a woman’s pregnancy, pregnancy related 
or not, should be recorded as Sick Leave in the usual way. However, 
pregnancy related absences are not included as part of sickness 
monitoring. Any pregnancy related sickness occurring after the 4th 
week before the week in which the baby is due may affect the 
employee’s entitlement to sick pay.  Pregnant employees are entitled to 
paid time off for antenatal care, (evidence of appointments should be 
produced). 
 

10.4   Employee Assistance Programme 

Leighton Linslade Town Council buy into an external Employee 
Assistance Programme – Health Assured. This is a confidential 24-
hour telephone, email and web support service. Employees can call the 
service as often as they need to and at any time. 

 

Page 81



  11 

 
 

Telephone Assistance Plus provided by Health Assured offers a quick, 
confidential and highly professional way to resolve, whatever life 
throws at you and is there whenever you need it. The service gives 
unlimited access to a range of specialist support and information 
including telephone support and counselling provided by qualified and 
experienced therapists. 

 
The EAP can help support employees with issues such as: 

 Health and well-being information 

 Stress at home or work 

 Financial issues including debt 

 Family and relationship matters 

 Consumer issues 

 
To contact this service, please ring 0800 030 5182 or visit 
www.healthassured.org  
 
 

10.5 Other Support Available  
 

Covid-19 and its impact have created unprecedented worry and stress, 
therefore it is important to remind all employees that there are 
numerous organisations and support groups offering expert advice on a 
wide range of issues. 
 
www.nhs.uk provide a wealth of advice on mental and physical 
wellbeing as well as information for those with financial worries 
 
Anxiety UK www.anxietyuk.org.uk Tel: 03444 775 774 (Mon – Fri 
9.30am to 5.00pm) Advice and support on managing anxiety 
 
Samaritans www.samartians.org.uk Tel: 116 123 (free 24 hour helpline)  
 
Refuge www.refuge.org.uk Tel: 0808 2000 247 (24 hour helpline) 
Advice on dealing with domestic violence 
 
CALM www.thecalmzone.net Tel: 08000 58 58 58 Campaign against 
living miserably 
 
MIND www.mind.org.uk Tel: 0300 123 3393 Mental health charity 
 
www.mentalhealthandmoneyadvice.org online advice and support for 
people experiencing issues with mental health and money 

 

Page 82

http://www.healthassured.org/
http://www.nhs.uk/
http://www.anxietyuk.org.uk/
http://www.samartians.org.uk/
http://www.refuge.org.uk/
http://www.thecalmzone.net/
http://www.mind.org.uk/
http://www.mentalhealthandmoneyadvice.org/


June 2021; to replace Disability Discrimination Statement and Equal Opportunities Policy 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

EQUALITY IN EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURE 
 

Page 83



June 2021; to replace Disability Discrimination Statement and Equal Opportunities Policy 
 

1. Our policy 

 

1.1 Leighton Linslade Town Council is committed to: 
 

 exceeding its requirements to promote equality of opportunity

 being at the forefront of valuing diversity in terms of our workforce

 taking proactive positive steps to make its workplace a fair environment

 working hard to reduce disadvantage, discrimination and inequality

 ensuring it meets legal requirements in accordance with the Equality Act 2010.

 

1.2 The Equality in Employment Procedure supports the council’s responsibilities in relation to 
the public sector equality duty under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. This duty states 
that a public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to: 

 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited by or under the Equality Act

 advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it

 foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it. The nine protected characteristics are:

 

 age 
 disability 
 gender reassignment 
 marriage and civil partnership 
 pregnancy and maternity 
 race 
 religion or belief 
 sex 
 sexual orientation 

 

2. The purpose of this procedure 

 

2.1 The Equality in Employment Procedure supports the council’s wider equality agenda 
through encouraging the development of a diverse workforce which reflects the 
community it services and its diversity profile; where employees understand and promote 
equality; and where equality is part of management culture. 

 

2.2 This procedure should be read in conjunction with other council procedures such as the 
Sickness Absence Procedure, the Recruitment Policy, the Whistleblowing Procedure and 
the Prevention of Bullying and Harassment Procedure. 

 

2.3 The council recognises the unique contribution each employee can make and will promote 
a climate of respect for all, requiring employees to treat each other with fairness, dignity 
and respect. 

 

2.4 The council will oppose any form of discrimination against job applicants or employees on 
the grounds of age, disability, gender, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sexual orientation, marriage or civil partnership status, trade union 
activity or responsibility for dependents. 

 

Page 84



June 2021; to replace Disability Discrimination Statement and Equal Opportunities Policy 
 

2.5 The council will ensure all employment policies and practices, including recruitment and 
selection, learning and development, promotion and pay, are non-discriminatory, in line 
with relevant employment legislation and best practice. 

 

 

3. The principles of this procedure 

 

3.1 Managers are responsible for ensuring compliance with the procedure and will ensure 
employment decisions are based on job related, objective criteria, particularly when 

 

 recruiting employees

 making decisions about work-related opportunities, promotion and pay issues
 managing employee performance 
 allocating training opportunities to employees

 managing pregnant employees and employees with dependent care responsibilities

 managing change, including reorganisations and restructures

 managing requests for flexible working and paid or unpaid leave

 managing attendance and/or absence issues.

 

3.2 Employees are responsible for ensuring compliance with this procedure and must not 
 

 unfairly discriminate against colleagues, or job applicants

 encourage colleagues to treat others unfairly or to practice discrimination
 victimise people who have made allegations or complaints of discrimination or who 

have been witnesses in cases of discrimination.
 

3.3 Employees have the right not to be victimised or treated less favourably because they 
have made a complaint about discrimination during either present or previous 
employment, or have assisted someone else’s complaint by giving evidence. 

 

3.4 The council is committed to the monitoring and evaluation of equality data to measure 
the impact of procedures and practices in the workplace, and to put into place action 
plans where necessary. 

 

 

4. Failure to comply with Leighton Linslade Town Council’s Equality in Employment 
Procedure 

 

 

4.1 Job applicants who feel they have been subject to unfair discrimination can make a 
complaint under the council’s Recruitment Procedure. 

 

4.2 An employee who feels he/she has been subject to unfair discrimination are encouraged, in 
the first instance, to raise the issue informally with his/her line manager, or formally under 
the Council’s Grievance Procedure or the Prevention of Bullying and Harassment 
Procedure. 

 

4.3 Employees who are alleged to have committed an act of unfair discrimination may be liable 
to disciplinary action in accordance with the Council’s Disciplinary Procedure. 

 

4.4 Employees who commit an act of unjustified or unlawful discrimination, or allow 
discrimination to occur without taking appropriate action, may also be liable to a claim 
being brought against them by the victim in the Civil Court. 

Page 85



June 2021; to replace Disability Discrimination Statement and Equal Opportunities Policy 
 

 

 

5. Advice and guidance 

 

5.1 See Appendix 1 for guidance regarding support for employees with a disability, who may  

require a reasonable adjustment. 
 

5.2 The Council will aim to provide information in alternative formats on request. 

Page 86



June 2021; to replace Disability Discrimination Statement and Equal Opportunities Policy 
 

Appendix 1 - Supporting employees with disabilities 
 

 

1. Definitions 

 

1.1 The Equality Act 2010 has made it easier for a person to show that they are disabled and 
protected from disability discrimination. Under the Act, a person is disabled if they have a 
physical or mental impairment which has a substantial and long-term adverse effect on 
their ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities. 

 
1.2 A disability can arise from a wide range of impairments that can be 
 

 sensory impairments, such as those affecting sight or hearing  
 impairments with fluctuating or recurring effects such as rheumatoid arthritis, myalgic 

encephalomyelitis (ME)/chronic fatigue syndrome (CFS), fibromyalgia, depression and 
epilepsy  

 progressive, such as motor neurone disease, muscular dystrophy, forms of dementia and 
lupus (SLE)  

 organ system specific, including respiratory conditions, such as asthma, and 
cardiovascular diseases such as Angina and gastro intestinal conditions such as  
Crohn’s disease 

 diabetes 

 developmental, such as autistic spectrum disorders (ASD), dyslexia and dyspraxia 

 learning difficulties  
 mental health conditions and mental illnesses, such as depression, schizophrenia, eating 

disorders, bipolar affective disorders, obsessive compulsive disorders, as well as some 
personality disorders and self-harming behaviour produced by injury to the body or brain. 

 
1.3 The following people are deemed to meet the definition of disability without having to show 

that they have an impairment that has, (or is likely to have) a substantial, adverse, long-
term effect on their ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities 

 

 a person who has cancer, HIV infection or multiple sclerosis  
 a person who is certified as severely sight impaired or sight impaired by a consultant 

ophthalmologist, or is registered as such with a local authority. 
 
1.4 The list is not exhaustive, and Occupational Health can advise further regarding definitions. 
 
2. Employees with acquired disability 

 

2.1 The council will support and retain, wherever possible, any employee who acquires a 
disability. The employee, who has the right to be represented, will be invited to a meeting to 
discuss, in confidence, any reasonable adjustments required. 

 
3. Reasonable adjustments 

 

3.1 Employees are encouraged to advise managers and colleagues of their disability to both 
raise awareness in their workplace and to ensure positive support. However, the council is 
also aware that the employee has a right to privacy. 

 
3.2    The duty to make adjustments only applies if the employer knows, (or should reasonably be 

expected to know) that the employee is disabled. Declarations made in confidence to 

Page 87



June 2021; to replace Disability Discrimination Statement and Equal Opportunities Policy 
 

Occupational Health do not constitute disclosure to the council as the employer unless the 
circumstances as outlined in paragraph 4.1 apply. 

 
3.3 Disabled employees are responsible for informing the council, (usually their line 

manager/supervisor) that they have a disability as defined by the Equality Act 2010 
(see Paragraph 1), and should discuss with the manager if they need any reasonable 
adjustment. 

 
3.4 Occupational Health will provide, where appropriate, advice to managers, where a 

reasonable adjustment may need to be considered for new starters. 
 
4. Disclosure of information 

 

4.1 Occupational Health Advisers are bound by their profession to maintain medical 
confidentiality, and will only disclose information regarding an employee if authorised to do 
so, or where there is a grave risk to the health and safety of the employee and/or others.  

 
5. Employer responsibilities 

 

5.1 The council has a duty to ensure a safe working environment that promotes the physical 
and psychological well being of all employees. 

 
5.2 Those employees who use Display Screen Equipment (DSE) must regularly (but at least 

annually) carry out an assessment of their working environment. This applies to both office 
work stations or those when working at home. Stressor Risk assessments may be 
completed on request. Employees concerned about their working environment in either 
location should discuss their concerns with their line manager. 

 
5.3 There may be occasions when an employee or a manager has concerns about the 

employee’s ability to carry out some or all of the duties on health and safety grounds. 
The manager should consider the following: 

 

 arrange for an individual risk assessment; 

 discuss the matter with Health & Safety and Occupational Health  

 
Where an employee’s reasonable adjustment causes concern over their ability to carry out 
their duties safely a reassessment of the reasonable adjustment should be arranged in 
discussion with the employee, Health and Safety and Occupational Health. 

 
6. Managers’ responsibilities 
 
6.1. To ensure managers create a culture that promotes equality of opportunity they should 

ensure that they fully understand and actively promote the Council’s Equality in 

Employment Procedure and: 

 

 prevent the inappropriate circulation and/or use of medical information; 

 ensure the use of discrimination-free language by promoting good practice;  
 discourage the use of stereotypical views and promote a realistic and positive image 

of disability 

Page 88



June 2021; to replace Disability Discrimination Statement and Equal Opportunities Policy 
 

 
7. Process for adjustments requested by employees 

 

7.1 Managers and employees may mutually agree reasonable adjustments without the 
necessity of a formal process, however, there will be other occasions when a manager 
is not able to authorise more extensive adjustments, and then the procedure for 
assessing and agreeing adjustments is as follows: 

 

 The employee makes their request in writing 
 The manager meets with the employee within four weeks of receiving the request 

for reasonable adjustments to gather the information needed to make a decision; 
and  

 following the meeting, arrive at a decision and discuss the support options with OH  

 
7.2 If no agreement can be reached, for example if the employee is not satisfied with the 

decisions made or the time taken to reach a decision, the employee may take action 
through the Grievance Procedure. A potential employee will have the right to access 
the Council’s Complaints Procedure should the response result in them being unable to 
commence work. 

 
7.3 There will be occasions when agreed reasonable adjustments/amendments need to be 

reviewed because either the employee’s condition has changed or service needs prompt a 
review. 

 
 
8. Redeployment of an employee with a disability 

 

8.1 Employees who have an acquired disability as defined by the Equality Act 2010 may be 
considered for redeployment to an alternative post once all reasonable adjustments / 
amendments to their current position have been considered and or implemented and 
found not to be satisfactory. 

 
9. Disability leave 

 

9.1 The council will allow a reasonable amount of disability leave both paid and unpaid to 
employees who have a disability as defined under the Equality Act 2010. 

 
9.2 Where the requirements of this policy are met the council will consider up to 15 days 

disability leave as reasonable. (Compassionate & Special Leave Policy).

Page 89



June 2021; to replace Disability Discrimination Statement and Equal Opportunities Policy 
 

9.3 The ability to take disability leave follows a diagnosis of a condition that has been identified 
as a disability under the Equality Act 2010. Investigatory medical appointments are not 
covered. 

 
9.4 All applications for disability leave must be booked in advance and agreed with the line 

manager. Requests for more than 15 days in a single leave year must be referred to the 
Town Clerk for consideration. In exceptional circumstances, disability leave may be 
granted retrospectively. 

 
9.5 Employees can only take disability leave when they are well. Disability leave is not a 

substitute for sick leave. 
 
9.6  When considering what is reasonable the manager will take into account the needs of the  

service, the individual employee needs, the proposed duration of the treatment, the 
consequences to the employee of leave not being granted, the location of the 
appointment or treatment and the frequency of the appointment or treatment. 

 
9.7 Disability leave is available for rehabilitation, ongoing assessment or treatment. 
 
9.8 Wherever possible, the employee should try to make appointments either early or late in the 

day or at the start or end of a shift to minimise disruption to the working day. 

 
9.9 Some examples of disability leave are as follows: appointments with psychiatrist, Cognitive 

Behavioural Therapy, group or individual counselling, art therapy. These types of sessions 
may be for one to two hours duration over a 12 week period. Regular assessments could be 
covered by disability leave eg: someone who has been diagnosed with cancer may be 
expected to have regular six monthly or annual checks. Time off to attend the appointment 
could be granted. Types of treatment that may be suitable for disability leave could be a 
course of chemotherapy or radiotherapy treatment. The time for the treatment could be 
recorded as disability leave. 

 
9.10 Any sickness taken as a result of an individual’s disability (or as a result of treatment) will be 

recorded as sickness absence and will be recorded in accordance with the Council’s 
Sickness Absence Procedure in most cases as “Sickness (disability related)”. 

 
9.11 As with all reasonable adjustments disability leave should be regularly reviewed to ensure 

it is appropriate and relevant. 

Page 90


	Agenda
	6 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
	7 STATEMENT OF PENSION DISCRETIONS & FLEXIBLE RETIREMENT POLICY
	A. Statement of Pension Discretions 2014-2020
	B. Pension Discretions Template with suggestions
	C. Draft new Statement of Pension Discretions
	D. Determining the Rate of Employee Pension Contributions
	E. Flexible Retirement Policy draft June 2021

	8 POLICY REVIEW
	A. Sickness Absence Procedure June 2021
	B. Equality-in-employment-procedure Jun 2021


